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Metta Welfare Association (Metta) 
was founded in 1992 by Venerable 
Shi Fa Zhao, Abbot of the Golden 
Pagoda Buddhist Temple. He is also 
the President and Abbot of the 
Buddha Tooth Relic Temple and 
Museum.
 Registered as a society in 1994, 
Metta is endorsed by the Ministry of 
Community Development, Youth 
and Sports (MCYS), Ministry of Health 
(MOH) and Ministry of Education 
(MOE). We are also members of the 
National Council of Social Service 
(NCSS), Singapore Hospice Council 
and Singapore Disability Sports 
Council.

Vision
In accordance with The Great 
Compassionate Vows of The Buddha 
of Medicine, Metta aims to provide 
healthcare and welfare services 
for the needy and less fortunate, 
regardless of race or religion.

Mission and Objectives
Dedicated to the active promotion of 
humanitarian causes, Metta initiates, 
assists and organises a wide range of 
community projects. Our objectives 
are:
• To provide accessible and 

affordable medical care to the 
less fortunate – home hospice 

care for the terminally ill and day 
rehabilitative services for elderly 
and stroke patients

• To provide disability care, respite 
care, residential care and training 
for the intellectually disabled

• To provide special education 
and training for children with mild 
intellectual disability and/or autism

• To provide community care services 
for the elderly, students and 
children

• To develop and provide such 
forms of medical care and 
welfare services as required by the 
community

About Us 
关于慈光
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Playing a pivotal role in realising our 
mission are nine welfare centres 
and a social enterprise that are 
located islandwide. Currently serving 
939 beneficiaries, the centres are 
segregated into the following areas:

Disability Care 
• Metta Day Activity Centre for 

the Intellectually Disabled (a day 
care centre for the intellectually 
disabled)

• Metta Home for the Disabled (a 
residential home for the disabled)

• Metta Home Day Activity Centre (a 
day care centre for the disabled) 

Our Centres 
এၢᒦቦ

Medical Care
• Metta Day Rehabilitation Centre 

for the Elderly (a day rehabilitation 
centre for elderly and stroke 
patients) 

• Metta Hospice Care (home hospice 
care for the terminally ill)

Children Care
• Metta PreSchool @Simei and 

Punggol (preschools that offer early 
intervention programmes to young 
children aged three to six with 
special needs)

• SE CDC - Metta Student Care 
Centre

 

Special Education 
• Metta School (a special education 

school for children aged 7 to 18 
with mild intellectual disability and/
or autism)

Social Enterprise 
• Happy Arts Enterprise Ltd (a social 

enterprise that creates vocational 
training and employment 
opportunities for adolescents 
aged 18 and above from special 
education schools)

 From the young to the elderly, 
the infirm to the terminally ill, we 
transcend racial and religious barriers 
to enhance their quality of life. A 
challenging task it is but our driving 
force comes from the satisfaction of 
seeing them receive proper care and 
lead fulfilling lives. We take pride in 
our ability to offer a comprehensive 
range of services that goes 
beyond the mere fulfillment of their 
requirements.
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President’s Message
ᓍᇳማࠤ

Year 2009 unfolded amid much 
ambivalence. Reeling from the 
tailspin of the financial crisis, the 
global economy was forced to 
embark on a slippery road to 
recovery with the onset of the H1N1 
outbreak followed by the European 
sovereign debt crisis.
 As the quandary protracts, the 
vicissitudes of life and the vagaries of 
fortune that unfold before our eyes 
compel us to weigh up the lessons to 
be learnt. Amid such disquietude, the 
ability to harness fortitude and peace 
is an attribute privy to a placid mind 
and an equanimous heart.
 Braced by clarity of vision and 
resilience of spirit, we were mindful of 
the challenges that came our way, 
but equally heedful of the possibilities 
they might offer. We anticipated 
a growing number of beneficiaries 

calling at our door and those under 
our care in need of greater help. But 
the opportunity to make positive, 
far-reaching changes in their lives 
beckoned strongly to our calling.
 Even though this meant stretching 
our capabilities and resources, we 
derived immense gratification in 
soothing their infirmities and lifting 
their spirits at a time when they were 
at their most vulnerable, basking in 
the hope that shone through their 
weary eyes.

CORPORATE RELATIONS
As the saying goes: “One good 
deed begets another.” Despite the 
volatile backdrop, our goodwill was 
reciprocated by a rising number 

of repeat donors and sponsors, 
attesting to the years of relationship 
building with our partners having 
established strong confidence and 
deep conviction in what we do. At 
the same time, our ability to foster 
new bonds with kindred parties lent 
greater thrust to our mission. With 
their collective might, we achieved 
reasonable growth across the board 
and a modest surplus in our reserves.
 From MNCs to SMEs, associations 
to clubs, it was heartening to see new 
faces – such as Standard Chartered 
Bank, General Insurance Association 
and Raffles Town Club, to name a few 
– endorsing our work and expressing 
their personal stake in building a 
caring society.
 Be they new or existing partners, 
we sought to enhance the quality of 
our relations with the goal of fostering 
understanding and faith, forging ties 
in ways that were meaningful and 
relevant to them, whilst sharing the 
values that corporate giving could 
create for their brands.
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NEW UNDERTAKINGS
We completed our voyage last year 
with significant strides. Backed by 
substantive progress and statistics, we 
devoted our resources to services that 
had the greatest potential to grow 
yet meet the most urgent of needs. 
Of particular focus were our Early 
Intervention Programme for Infants 
and Children (EIPIC) and special 
education arms.
 Targeted for an initial capacity of 
60, Metta PreSchool @Simei opened 
its doors on 2 May 2007 with less than 
five students. Within two years, its 
enrolment burgeoned to 61 and the 
current intake peaks at 77. To address 
the rising demand, we secured a site 
in Punggol for our new branch under 
the support of MCYS and Pasir Ris-
Punggol Constituency. 
 Construction of Metta 
PreSchool @Punggol went into full 
swing following a groundbreaking 
ceremony on 2 October 2009. By the 
end of our fiscal year, the building 
cost of $564,840 was fully defrayed by 
government grants and the largesse 
of our donors. Able to accommodate 
132 pupils, this larger, purpose-built 

structure commenced operations in 
June 2010 to serve preschoolers with 
special needs residing in the northeast 
region.
 On the other hand, older children 
from the Metta School can look 
forward to having full-fledged facilities 
designed for in-depth vocational 
training and experiential learning 
after a proposed five-storey annexe is 
built. There will also be more amenities 
planned around the needs of senior 
students with autism spectrum 
disorders. Estimated at $7 million, 
this extension project will be largely 
funded by capital grants from the 
MOE and the school’s reserves. Piling 
works will begin in June 2011 with 
completion slated for August 2012. 
 Weaving a seamless service 
network for children and youths with 
learning disabilities, these major 
developments will bring about long-
term sustainability for our intended 
beneficiaries in time to come.

QUALITY BENCHMARKS
As an Institute of Public Character, 
our decisions and actions are 
underpinned by professional integrity 

and operational rigour. We strive to 
deliver on our key accountabilities in 
a competent and efficient manner 
that inspires trust and confidence in 
our stakeholders. Our efforts to put 
in place robust internal systems and 
processes were affirmed with the 
renewal of our ISO certification in 
December 2009. 
 Our endeavours have clearly 
borne fruit over the last year. This is 
attributed to the unremitting support 
of our core funders, donors, sponsors 
and volunteers, to whom I am most 
grateful. I would also like to commend 
and thank our board and committee 
members for their sage counsel, as 
well as the management and staff for 
their sterling work and commitment.
 Building upon our underlying 
strengths, rapport with key partners 
and the promising potential that 
arises from cross-leveraging the 
capacious nature of our services, we 
are endowed with the right impetus 
to keep transforming ourselves and 
actively shape our future, regardless 
of the challenges ahead.



Introduction 简介

6

Executive Director’s Message
ᒊቲူࣃማࠤ

2009 was without doubt a sombre 
and challenging year. As the turbulent 
landscape ebbed and flowed, our 
strong fundamentals kept us firmly 
rooted, helping us weather the storm 
well.
 Even as we saw a tightening of 
budget and prudent spending all 
round, we continued to champion 
accessibility and excellence. We 
kept to the priority of balancing 
our operational and economic 
imperatives, executing our near-term 
agenda whilst progressing steadily 
towards our long-term goals. 

BUILDING PROJECTS
Through allocating our resources 
with circumspection, we were able 
to press on with the development 
of quality settings that addressed 
our beneficiaries’ evolving needs. 

Our building projects, in particular, 
benefitted from lower construction 
costs precipitated by the prevailing 
market contraction. There was a 
palpable sense of optimism and 
fulfilment, as we made substantial 
progress on these key undertakings 
that primed us for future growth. 
 Driven by a rising demand 
for early intervention services, 
construction of the Metta PreSchool 
@Punggol commenced in 2 October 
2009. The centre was officially opened 
on 31 July by Ms Penny Low, Member 
of Parliament (MP) for Pasir Ris-
Punggol GRC. Measuring 660 square 
metres, it houses eight classrooms 
and facilities for one-to-one teaching, 
soft play, sensory intervention and 
occupational therapy.
 Moving to the other end of the 
demographic spectrum, geriatric 

concerns about our ageing residents 
in the Metta Home for the Disabled 
warranted the need for our premises 
to be equitably designed. Upgrading 
works carried out between June 2009 
and April 2010 saw the installation 
of disabled/elder-friendly fittings like 
grab bars, handrails, ramps and non-
slip tiles which promoted barrier-free 
accessibility, safety and ergonomic 
health benefits. 
 Riding on the coattails of these 
projects is our plan to refurbish the 
Metta Day Rehabilitation Centre 
for the Elderly. After 15 years of 
operation, there is an imperative 
need to create a more vibrant 
and conducive environment for 
our patients, as enhanced facilities 
and equipment will have a direct 
and significant bearing on their 
rehabilitative outcomes.
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REVENUE SOURCES
Our resolve to implement value-
added initiatives was matched by 
our drive to establish a viable welfare 
model. The past year saw us working 
even harder to generate more funds 
and new income streams. 
 The Metta Charity Banquet, 
for example, marked a resounding 
homecoming as the soiree took place 
in our headquarters for the first time 
on 24 October 2009. Choosing our 
home ground over external venues, 
this practical change not only 
reduced overheads but also fostered 
a welcoming sense of familiarity and 
spirited bonhomie among our guests.
 As the fiscal year came to a close, 
we made a final leap in fundraising 
with our inaugural Metta Charity Run, 
which drew an encouraging turnout 
across communities and age groups. I 
am pleased to report that our flagship 
fundraising events have garnered 
higher revenues as compared to the 
previous year.
 On the other hand, our Buddhist 
Culture Department enjoyed a 
year of bustling growth, underlining 
the burgeoning popularity of our 

programme offerings that have 
strengthened in scope and depth. 
From dharma classes and talks to 
religious rituals and ceremonies, we 
have built a virtuous foundation upon 
which a wellspring of benevolence 
can flourish. 
 Translating kindness into actions, 
our members not only engaged in local 
community outreach, but also spread 
the wave of compassion beyond our 
shores in a voluntary mission to Yangon, 
where they helped restore a monastic 
quarters and gave away rations and 
daily necessities to needy children.

PRICELESS GIFTS
The greatest gifts in life are those that 
exert a far-reaching influence. This 
is why we take pride in endowing 
special needs youths with employable 
life skills that engender self-worth and 
self-reliance in them. Since the Metta 
School became an ITE approved 
training centre in June 2008, we have 
offered vocational courses in baking, 
food preparation and housekeeping 
to eligible students under the Metta 
School-ITE Skills Certificate Programme.
 Unveiling an uplifting chapter of 

their coming of age, our Speech Day 
on 18 November 2009 marked the 
graduation of our maiden cohort. 
By then, 26 among the 29 graduates 
had secured employment with our 
corporate partners, while one went on 
to pursue higher qualifications in the 
Baking Industry Training Centre. We 
wish them every success in realising 
their aspirations and many more 
defining moments to come.
 It has indeed been a fruitful year 
for us. Our accomplishments have 
been the culmination of unyielding 
commitment and efforts from members 
of the board and various committees, 
management and staff, as well as the 
support and contributions rendered 
by core funders, donors, sponsors, 
volunteers, corporate and grassroots 
partners. 
 I hereby extend my utmost 
gratitude and appreciation to all of 
you for bringing compassion to life and 
giving life to compassion. Your inspiring 
goodwill will spur us on, navigating 
us through the vagaries of a shifting 
landscape and propelling our onward 
march in a challenging yet rewarding 
calling.
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Metta Committees
慈光ᆕᏋ્
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Metta Headquarters
慈光ᔐݝ
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1st row (from left)
Ms Felicia Wee Sok Pheng, Mr Nandana Koh, Ven Shi Pu En, Ven Shi Jie Hui, Mr Ee Tiang Hwee
2nd row (from left)
Ms Lilian Hoi, Ms Ann Ng, Ms Neo Ai Chin, Ms Susan Lim Siew Gek, Ms Chew Mei Har, Ms Catherine New Wee Bee
3rd row (from left)
Ms Hoon Shu Kim, Ms Catherine Wong, Mr Michael Wong
4th row (from left)
Mr Abdul Aziz Bin Othman, Mr John Num Lit Guan, Mr Shawn Ng, Mr Chan Keng Huan, Mr Teo Chin Teck



Metta Day Activity Centre 
for the Intellectually Disabled
慈光ᒝᑇ྇ମ૚ࣅᒦቦ
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
The Metta Day Activity Centre for 
the Intellectually Disabled (MIDAC) is 
established to promote quality life for 
individuals with intellectual disabilities.
 Partially funded by the MCYS and 
NCSS, our day care services cater for 
beneficiaries aged between 16 and 
55 from various races and religions, 
who are diagnosed with intellectual 
impairment such as Down’s syndrome 
and autism.
 These conditions often result 
in concurrent impediments in 
adaptive functioning, which affect 
their communication, self-care and 
cognitive learning abilities. 

Individual Care Plans
Detailing specific interventions that 
address the needs and challenges 
unique to their disability profiles, 
individual care plans are designed 
to help our beneficiaries achieve 
maximum gains in their abilities. 
 These plans are executed via a 
comprehensive training curriculum, 
covering areas such as activities of 
daily living and community living skills. 
The former promote their mastery of 

self-help skills, while the latter enable 
them to function adequately at home 
and in the community.
 Pre-vocational, social and 
recreational skills are also taught 
to further equip them with greater 
independence and confidence. We 
work closely with their caregivers to 
render well-rounded support that 
enables seamless integration beyond 
our centre.
 Measurable goals and objectives 
are determined regularly to define 
realistic standards and targets for 
subsequent evaluations of their 
progress, following which their 
developments are monitored and 
recorded daily.
 At the end of every six months, 
our professional team hold case 
conferences with their caregivers to 
review their performance outcomes 
and update them on the beneficiaries’ 
progress. Proficiency milestones, 
programme and behavioural 
modifications are then charted in the 
setting of future targets.
 This approach ensures that 
relevant programmes are consistently 
developed to meet the recipients’ 

changing needs, thus helping them 
gain desired levels of progress. All 
programme outcomes and results 
are submitted to and assessed by the 
NCSS on a quarterly basis. By working 
closely with the governing bodies, 
we augment our service model and 
professional competencies.

Value-Added Programmes
Going beyond their immediate 
needs, we provide our beneficiaries 
with equal access to mainstream 
opportunities, which are vital platforms 
for them to exercise choices, 
integration and independence.
 Besides daily exercise routines, 
sports like badminton, basketball, 
athletics, bocce and community 
walks are introduced to promote 
a healthy lifestyle. For those who 
have weak motor coordination skills, 
physiotherapy and occupational 
therapy are provided. Nourishing their 
health further are weekly provisions 
of soybean milk contributed by Super 
Bean International.
 Catering for their social and 
emotional well-being is a balanced 
mix of indoor and outdoor activities. 

Festive celebrations like this conducted during the Lunar New Year enliven our beneficiaries immensely. 

ᒦቦளޟ௟྇ஂێ૚ࣅǈಿྙཀᓗแ಼ቤฤǈጲဧ၊ૉཽိࡼည૚঍ᎌည໮Ꭷ૚ೆă



Disability Care ᒝᑇॲᇗ

17

Excursions and grassroots events 
keep them actively involved in the 
community, whereas creative pursuits 
the likes of karaoke singing, arts and 
crafts help promote constructive 
hobbies and useful life skills. 
 Additionally, they are trained 
in simple food preparation skills like 
popcorn and waffle making. These 
activities not only constitute pre-
vocational training that prepares them 
for possible future employment, but 
also offer an enriching yet creative 
avenue of occupational therapy. The 
mastery of independent living skills and 
sampling of their creations increase 
their self-worth and confidence. 

ACHIEVEMENTS

The year in review saw us attaining 
considerable success in meeting our 
beneficiaries’ social, rehabilitative 
and fitness needs by means of new 
programmes. We gamely took up the 
challenge of injecting vigour into our 
beneficiaries through recreation and 
play to improve their quality of life.

New Therapies
Favourable for improving our 
beneficiaries’ sensory and motor 
skills deficits, sensory exploration 
programmes and play therapy were 
incorporated into our training regimes. 
We were fortunate to have access to 
the multi-sensory facilities and therapy 
programmes available in our sister 

centre Metta Home for the Disabled.
 The former enabled our 
recipients to undergo various sensory 
interventions involving movement and 
music. They were thus able to initiate 
self-determined responses, experience 
self-control and express individual 
abilities. 
 By inducing calmness and 
positive feelings, the activities helped 
condition their mental state and 
let them work through emotional 
and behavioural problems arising 
from sensory issues. They could thus 
concentrate on carrying out assigned 
tasks required of their performance 
outcomes.
 On the other hand, fresh gaming 
options in the form of Nintendo Wii 
sessions and a giant-sized Snakes and 
Ladders board game customised from 
large floor mats were received with 
keen interest. 
 Representing an alternative 
yet engaging form of occupational 
therapy, all these proved effective 
in enhancing their mental 
and physical agility, hand-eye 
coordination, postural and functional 
balance abilities, as well as social, 

Outdoor excursions like this to the Sungei Buloh Wetland Reserve are conducted regularly to encourage 

social integration. 

ᒦቦࢾဟᆐᒝᑇཽိ௟ێጙቋ਋਒Ꮠᔗ૚ࣅǈಿྙࡵၷᇮൣݚဘۣ࢐ઐཌབྷ୤ᎊǈጲ৴಺Ⴧඣྌྜྷ

࿷્ă
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communication and motor skills.

Art Therapy
Constituting a therapeutic reprieve 
for our beneficiaries, arts and hobby 
craft sessions not only tapped into their 
wellspring of creativity but also paved 
for sensory learning.
 Through the movements required 
of manual craftwork, their motor 
skills and hand-eye coordination 
received tremendous boosts. Besides 
strengthening their creativity, art 
making is fundamental in effecting 
positive changes in areas like 
personal growth, self-awareness and 
problem-solving. All these cultivate 
their confidence, concentration and 
patience. 
 Focusing on their strengths in 
replication, repetition and systematic 
visual structures, our training officers 
dissected craft procedures in 
manageable steps, so as to aid their 
understanding and mastery. The joy 
of seeing their creations on display, 
be it within our centre or in various 
community arts channels, instilled 
pride in them.
 Deserving mention was their 

vibrant collage of eight auspicious 
Buddhist symbols meticulously 
assembled using rolled crepe 
paper and coloured beads. Titled 
“Ashtamangala”, the striking artwork 
elicited a whopping $50,000 bid from 
Mr John Hay of Hay Dairies Pte Ltd 
at the Metta Charity Banquet on 24 
October 2009.

Sports Involvement
Over the year, new group sports like 
bocce, basketball and athletics were 
introduced. Like recreational activities, 
sports are important rehabilitative and 
integration tools. 
 Capable of promoting and 
developing their remnant abilities, 
particularly those with motor 
impairment, sports enable them to 

participate fully in a healthy lifestyle, 
while attaining assistive, learning and 
social purposes. Those who fared 
well were given tokens or prizes as an 
encouragement. All these incentives 
contributed to a high participation 
rate in them.

Community Outreach 
Reaping benefits on many 
fronts, our active involvement in 
recreational pursuits, grassroots 
and community events contributed 
to the beneficiaries’ physical and 
psychological well-being. Besides 
promoting skills development and 
social integration among them, 
it induced greater visibility and 
awareness on our disability services.
 Enhanced community perceptions 

Community-based programmes such as this visit to the Jamae Chulia Mosque are also organised. 

ᒦቦᆐᒝᑇཽိ௟ێ࿷ཌ૚ࣅǈಿྙࡵ Jamae Chulia ૄ୴ჭབྷݬ਋ă
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broadened and deepened our 
engagement with the grassroots, 
thereby attracting more social 
partners and neighbourhood residents 
to volunteer and partake in our 
activities. 

Staff Training
Regular training was conducted 
for our staff to keep pace with the 
latest developments in disability care. 
Workshops, courses and lectures 
carried out by the MCYS, NCSS and 
leaders in this field enhanced their 
expertise in outcome management 

and client care, particularly 
intervention methods for beneficiaries 
with challenging behavioural 
problems. 
 In addition to certified courses 
such as disability and autism studies, 
short stints on outcome management, 
special needs and behavioural 
intervention were offered. Other than 
equipping themselves with relevant 
skills and knowledge through these 
workshops, our staff benefitted from 
the confluence of expertise brought 
on by fellow professionals, all of which 
they assimilated and shared with their 

co-workers to achieve quality service 
standards.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
Recognising the pivotal role that 
caregivers play, we are committed 
towards developing rapport and trust 
with them. We seek to gain a better 
understanding of their concerns, so as 
to motivate them into providing better 
care for our beneficiaries. Crucial in 
facilitating sustainable and holistic 
care, this will allow the effects of our 
intervention programmes to extend 
seamlessly to the home environment.
 Lastly, we aim to create 
opportunities for our beneficiaries to 
participate actively in competitions 
held by the SDSC and Special 
Olympics through our diverse sports 
offerings. Apart from igniting their 
desire to excel through an “I can do 
it” attitude, they can foster interaction 
and friendship with peers from fellow 
voluntary welfare organisations.

Spicing up our activity calendar were youth volunteers whose participation created avid interaction. 

This was taken during our excursion to the Singapore Zoo on 23 March 2010, which was sponsored and 

accompanied by students from the Hwa Chong Institution 

༴ฤᒔᏒᑗᆐᒦቦࡼ૚ܭࣅᐐᄗଂ኏ེฐǈ᎖2010ฤ3Ꮬ23྇ǈጙཬખ༜ᒦኧኧညᓾᓐਜ਼๻ۋᒦቦ

ᇕᏊăࣅ਋ᎊಂቤଝຸݬᒝᑇཽိབྷࡼ
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Metta Home for the Disabled & 
Metta Home Day Activity Centre
慈光ಘჿᏑૺᒝᑇ྇ମ૚ࣅᒦቦ
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
The Metta Home for the Disabled and 
Metta Home Day Activity Centre are 
established to offer community care 
options to needy individuals aged 
between 18 and 55 with multiple 
disabilities.
 Funded by the MCYS, the former 
is a purpose-built facility designed to 
accommodate 103 residents, with five 
vacancies set aside for respite care 
and emergency cases. Supported 
under the MCYS and Tote Board Social 
Service Fund, the latter provides day 
care services for a capacity of 50 
beneficiaries.
 Our programmes aim to equip all 
recipients with the skills and means to 
lead independent and fulfilling lives, so 
as to achieve social integration and 

quality of life. 
 Tending them with holistic care 
and working closely with their primary 
caregivers to provide well-rounded 
support is a multi-disciplinary team 
comprising a social worker, training 
officers, staff nurses, assistant nurses, 
nursing and therapy aides.

Residential Services
Centred on the concept of a seamless 
care continuum, our services seek 
to attain planned and purposeful 
integration for our residents, while 
ensuring that their transition into 
different life phases is planned around 
their needs and priorities. 
 Characterised by enhanced 
versatility and accessibility, our 
programmes are structured to suit 

residents of various age groups and 
disability profiles. With moderate to 
severe disabilities effecting higher 
functional limitations in them, our 
training and intervention strategies 
focus on developing their capabilities 
in self-help, community living, social 
interaction, perceptual-cognitive and 
motor skills.
 Mastery of self-help skills is 
imparted via training programmes and 
assimilated into their everyday routines 
to help them perform activities of daily 
living with minimal assistance. 
 Encouraging normal patterns of 
living and boosting their emotional 
well-being are community-based 
programmes that engender warmth 
and integration. Outings to places of 
interest and use of public amenities 
are conducted thrice weekly in 
small groups to maintain relevant 
community exposure, from which they 
learn to adopt appropriate social 
behaviour. 
 Group sports such as weekly 
bowling sessions at the Orchid 
Country Club are introduced with the 
objectives of interaction, rehabilitation 
and fitness in mind.

Meal treats by our donors, especially during festive occasions, regale our recipients greatly. 

࿖ོޠᆲளޟᆐࠢ਒ಘჿᏑࡼ၊ૉཽိ௟྇ஂێᔈᓐݫዧǈཱུჇඣాۥࡍॵă
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 Attending to their healthcare 
needs round-the-clock are qualified 
live-in nursing aides. In addition, 
specialist intervention services like 
physiotherapy and occupational 
therapy are carried out for residents 
and day care beneficiaries who 
suffer from impaired motor skills, 
while sensory activities are included 
for those with sensory processing 
difficulties.

Day Activity Services 
Despite fundamental similarities to 
our sister centre MIDAC, our training 
curriculum is customised to meet 
our beneficiaries’ unique needs 
and capabilities. Besides covering 
areas like activities of daily living and 
community living skills, it also focuses 
on pre-vocational skills, social and 
recreational involvement, as well as 
enrichment programmes to reinforce 
their independent living skills, adaptive 
behaviour and social attributes.
 Cooking lessons are held on 
Mondays, whereas social outings are 
conducted between Tuesdays and 
Thursdays to promote community living 
skills. Hydrotherapy sessions take place 

every Friday at the Choa Chu Kang 
Swimming Complex.

ACHIEVEMENTS
Our holistic and sustainable approach 
towards transition management 
reaped successful outcomes, as 
infrastructural enhancements to 
our physical compound created a 
disabled/elder-friendly environment, 
while the implementation of 
innovative programmes addressed our 
residents’ ageing needs and improved 
their overall well-being.

New Programmes
As the early onset of ageing is a 
phenomenon prevalent among 
people with intellectual disabilities, 
beneficiaries who are entering their 

third age form an increasing yet 
heterogeneous group in our clientele. 
 This calls for the planning and 
development of support services that 
not only meet their needs as a silver 
generation collectively, but also their 
unique disability and health profiles. 
Our care professionals constantly 
refine and review our programmes 
to provide more desirable options for 
greying residents to age in place.
 To prevent age-related diseases 
and disabilities as well as to preserve 
their independence, cognitive 
activities that reduce the impact of 
neural degeneration and creative 
exercise regimes that meet their fitness 
and recreational needs were initiated.
 Targeted at improving their 
mental and physical agility, hand-eye 

One of our ardent patrons Ms Ivy Pam (third from left), along with her family and friends, conducts regular 

singing performances for our beneficiaries. 
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coordination, postural and functional 
balance abilities, Wii gaming sessions 
were introduced as an enjoyable 
alternative to occupational therapy.
 On the other hand, our unique 
fabrication of a giant-sized Snakes and 
Ladders board game using large floor 
mats not only added a new dimension 
to their play experience but also 
imparted the concepts of counting, 
sequence and order. By aligning 
rehabilitation with recreation, they 
derived more joy and incentives to be 
physically active.

Improved Facilities
Essential in promoting barrier-free 
accessibility, safety and ergonomic 
health benefits for our ageing 
residents, disabled/elder-friendly 
fittings the likes of grab bars, ramps 
and non-slip tiles were installed 
following the consent of governing 
bodies to our proposal to incorporate 
building features that would 
accommodate their living needs.
 The creation of multi-sensory 
rooms also contributed to the diversity 
and increased regularity of our sensory 
programmes. Designed to minimise 

distractions and overload caused by 
sensory processing disorders, such 
facilities house features like controlled 
lighting and music, changing colours 
and moving images through the use of 
fibre optics and projectors.
 Through the effects of conditioned 
stimuli created under a relaxing or 
stimulating environment, users with 
varying sensory profiles learnt how 
to manage their sensory deficits. 
Furthermore, by engaging in music 
and movement, they were able to 
develop and improve their sense of 
rhythm, proprioceptive awareness, 
kinaesthetic and spatial connections.

Ministerial Visit
We were privileged to receive Minister 
of State for MCYS Mrs Yu-Foo Yee 
Shoon on 25 March 2010. The minister’s 
maiden visit was warmly received by 
our President Venerable Shi Fa Zhao, 
Deputy Executive Director Mr Ee Tiang 
Hwee and several management 
personnel.  
 Representing the ministry – which 
regularly conducts such visits to 
understand the operations and 
ground concerns of social service 

providers – Mrs Yu-Foo, along with 
delegates from the MCYS and NCSS, 
were introduced to our services and 
facilities.
 They also experienced the 
recreational diversity of our indoor 
programmes through a Myanmar folk 
dance and a comical “Chipmunk” 
performance delivered by our nursing 
and therapy aides. The delighted 
guests then toured our premises before 
adjourning to a convivial reception.

Community Involvement
Besides increased recreational 
avenues, social gatherings and charity 
dinners hosted by community clubs, 
grassroots organisations, religious 
bodies and other social service 
agencies gave our beneficiaries 
greater access to communal 
interaction. A result of our established 
network with these civic groups, 
the varied collaborative line-up 
brought vibrance and cheer to our 
beneficiaries. 
 Likewise, events like the Metta 
Charity Run and Metta Charity Walk 
cum Family Carnival organised by 
our headquarters allowed them 
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to interact with the public. Their 
active participation not only elicited 
awareness on their abilities, but also 
boosted their self-esteem.
 Signs of our robust collaboration 
with Fuchun Community Club (CC) 
Management Committee, Singapore 
Red Cross and Marsiling’s Civil 
Defence Executive Committee and 
Grassroots Organisations remained 
evident, as we held our blood 
donation drive at the Fuchun CC on 
11 October 2009. 
 For the first time, an information 
booth was set up for members of 
the public who were interested 
in donating their bone marrow. 
Accompanied by grassroots leaders, 
Guest-of-Honour Mr Hawazi Daipi, 
Senior Parliamentary Secretary for 
Ministry of Manpower and Health 
graced the occasion. Drawing a total 
of 124 participants, the drive rounded 
up 95 eligible donors, surpassing last 
year’s crowd of 80.

Caring Samaritans
Lending a vital thrust in our journey 
towards inclusion was our dedicated 
pool of donors and volunteers whose 
participation continued its upward 
climb. Deserving mention was the 
Raffles Town Club (RTC) who had 
appointed our parent organisation as 
its designated charity.
 The club graciously invited 20 of 
our residents to its Christmas festivities 
on 21 November 2009. Two among 
them had the privilege of joining 
the club’s representative in lighting 
up a beautifully decked, six-foot tall 
Christmas tree named after a charity 
drive for Metta.
 Not only did our elated guests 
feasted on a sumptuous Christmas 
dinner that evening, they received 
party packs, festive cookies and 
wishing cards to pen their wishes that 
were subsequently hung on the tree.
 A month later, the club held 
a New Year’s Eve tea party in our 

premise on 31 December. Graced 
by Mr Hawazi Daipi, the event was 
a befitting celebration of the recent 
renovations that we had carried out. 
 Besides enjoying a sumptuous 
buffet tea prepared by culinary 
wizards from the club, everyone 
revelled in dance performances 
delivered by our residents and nursing 
staff, as well as the melodious singing 
of Huang Yue from RTC.
 In the presence of over 140 guests, 
including representatives from the 
club, grassroots organisations and An 
Nur Mosque, RTC’s Finance Manager 
Ms Moh Siang King presented a 
cheque for $2,184 to our Deputy 
Executive Director. The sum was 
raised through the sale of greeting 
cards made by the Metta Alumni and 
gingerbread cookies produced by 
Metta’s social enterprise arm, Happy 
Arts Vegetarian Café. 
 Strong rapport was also reflected 
through group activities and 

Having appointed Metta as its designated charity, the Raffles Town Club held a New Year’s Eve tea party for our residents in our premises on 31 December 2009, 

with Mr Hawazi Daipi, Senior Parliamentary Secretary, Ministry of Manpower and Health (front row, 4th from right) as the Guest-of-Honour. 
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heartwarming gestures made possible 
by our donors Ms Ivy Pam and Ms 
Ellen Chua, whom, along with their 
own coterie of friends, conducted 
regular singing performances, 
karaoke sessions and meal treats that 
enlivened our recipients greatly.
 Our beneficiaries also got to bask 
in the restorative benefits of a green 
environment courtesy of Mr Yang Tze 
Pin, whose contributions in the form of 
landscape gardening culminated into 
a scenic haven.
 Special thanks also went to 
Mr Kang Puay Seng of Super Bean 

International for his weekly supplies of 
soybean milk and unstinting support 
towards all our events. Also providing 
nourishing warmth to our beneficiaries 
was Mr Richard Soh with his monthly 
food donations and annual Lunar 
New Year celebrations. Additionally, 
medical and residential equipment 
donated by Mdm Saw Yeo Tee helped 
augment the efficacy and quality of 
our care programmes. 
 We were grateful to be the 
recipient of such beneficence, as well 
as other acts of kindness rendered by 
numerous donors and sponsors whose 

gifts in both cash and kind resulted in 
much uplift in our beneficiaries’ lives. 
Making up a buoyant force too were 
student volunteers from St Gabriel’s 
Secondary, CHIJ St Nicholas Girls’ 
School and ITE College West who 
created much exuberance through 
their community involvement.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
We are committed to further 
strengthen our staff expertise via 
training in disability care, rehabilitative 
techniques and intervention strategies. 
At present, we are actively involved 
in case presentations at bi-monthly 
clinical conferences hosted by the 
Institute of Mental Health. This provides 
a valuable platform for our staff to 
share their knowledge and leverage 
on the expertise of other healthcare 
providers.

Held at the Fuchun CC on 11 October 2009, our blood donation drive drew a total of 124 participants, 

among whom 95 were eligible donors. The figure surpassed last year’s crowd of 80. 
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
Partially funded by the MOH and 
Tote Board Social Service Fund, the 
Metta Day Rehabilitation Centre 
for the Elderly is established to 
provide rehabilitative care for senior 
citizens who suffer from mild physical 
impairment as a result of stroke, injuries 
or other illnesses.
 Our services are geared towards 
maximising their independence level, 
while offering respite to their families 
and caregivers. By doing so, we play a 
supportive role in realising the concept 
of ageing in place, where our seniors 
can continue to live with respect and 
dignity within the community.
 Catering up to 75 recipients from 
various races and religions daily, 
our centre executes this vision by 
providing a comprehensive slate of 
rehabilitative, eldercare and social 
programmes for seniors with impaired 
functional abilities all under one roof. 
Currently operating at 85% capacity, 
we assist our clientele in regaining 
maximum functional capability 
through rehabilitative treatment and 
engagement in active lifestyles.

Rehabilitation
Targeted at restoring their functional 
abilities, active and maintenance 
rehabilitation are conducted on 
recipients who require follow-up 
treatment after discharge from 
hospitals or are affected by age-
related frailty and conditions such as 
stroke and arthritis.
 Our therapy range comprises 
physiotherapy, occupational therapy 
and complementary therapies 
involving acupuncture, massage, 
reflexology, craniosacral therapy, art 
and computer usage.
 Rounding off our seamless care 
continuum are wellness and support 
services like medical and basic nursing 
aid, outdoor leisure activities, health 
education and checks. We also help 
our recipients’ families become more 
adept in their caregiving roles by 
teaching basic nursing procedures 
and loaning rehabilitative equipment.

Social Programmes
Ensuring continuity between step-
down care and community-based 
eldercare are social programmes 
designed to provide supervision 

and support for recipients who have 
progressed from rehabilitative to 
maintenance programmes. 
 Health screenings, therapies 
and planned activities such as 
hobby crafts, exercises, outings and 
recreational pursuits are conducted 
regularly to enhance their emotional 
and physical wellness.
 The focus of social programmes is 
on enriching their lives, building upon 
their skills, knowledge, unique abilities 
and strengths. By keeping them 
meaningfully occupied and active 
among their peers, institutionalisation 
and deterioration are prevented. 
 This service component not only 
prolongs independent living in them, 
but also empowers them to age with 
security and dignity, while leading 
fulfilling lives as integral members of 
the society.

Value-Added Programmes
A balance-and-fall programme aimed 
at preventing and reducing falls 
among the elders serves to provide 
neuromuscular and vestibular training 
to strengthen their lower limb muscles 
and improve balance. Additionally, 

Graced by Ms Irene Ng, MP for Tampines GRC, our annual Hari Raya celebration that was jointly organised 

with the Darul Ghufran Mosque on 14 October 2009 at the Tampines Changkat CC attracted 250 guests. 
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counselling services are available 
to render psychosocial support for 
individuals, couples and families from 
various socio-economic backgrounds. 
Furthermore, respite care is extended 
to needy elders whose family members 
and caregivers are away at work.

ACHIEVEMENTS
Our efforts to reach out to more 
community partners and social service 
agencies intensified in the past year. 
Our exposure and involvement in their 
events and projects helped us raise 
our profile, develop new capabilities, 
deepen relations and strengthen our 
fundamentals.
 Conversely, they were able to 
hitch an uplifting ride on the silver 
bandwagon through engaging in our 
programmes and initiatives. We were 
heartened to witness the different 
ways in which they were moved by 
our seniors’ congeniality and vivacity.

 On the fiscal front, our successful 
application to the MOH VWO 
Contingency Fund saw us receiving 
a $94,000 handout that helped us 
plug the shortfall in our operational 
expenditure, which was affected by 
the recession.
 A relief measure administered 
by the MOH, the fund aimed to 
help charities involved in healthcare 
provision tide over the prevailing 
economic downturn. The timely 
assistance enabled our services to 
proceed with minimal disruption.

Appointment as Member of ComCare 
Local Network
In January 2010, we were appointed 
as member of the North East 
ComCare Local Network (CLN) by 
Mr Teo Ser Luck, Mayor of North East 
District. Established to foster closer 
collaboration among social service 
agencies and grassroots organisations, 

the CLN serves as a local level 
platform that helps strengthen 
the social safety net and improve 
process development across network 
agencies. 
 This initiative allows social 
service agencies to better respond 
to the needs of the community 
and provide holistic solutions for the 
underprivileged. Acting as resource 
and service touchpoints, members like 
us meet regularly to identify service 
gaps and discuss new initiatives 
that would benefit disadvantaged 
individuals and families living in the 
North East District.

Enhanced Staff Expertise
In order to develop and maintain 
our staffs’ professional competencies 
and standards, monthly workshops 
on chronic conditions, common 
ailments, nursing, care management, 
rehabilitative therapies, as well as 
emotional and psychological wellness 
were conducted. 
 Our nurses, physiotherapists 
and occupational therapist took 
turns to hold talks, covering topics 
like diabetes, stroke, dementia, 

Events like festive celebrations and group parties are held to broaden our seniors’ choice and breadth of 

community participation. 
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osteoporosis, stress management 
and positive thinking. Concurrently, 
monthly clinical meetings were held 
with our consultant physiotherapist 
Mr Joshua Chui and occupational 
therapist Ms Soh Sze Jie. 

Youth Involvement
Youth volunteerism was actively 
displayed in our centre this past year. 
Delighting our beneficiaries time and 
again with their warmth were student 
volunteers whose avid involvement 
spiced up our social calendar.
 Different groups of students from 
East Spring Secondary turned up 
weekly between 2 and 23 April 2009 
to befriend and sing for the elders, as 
well as sprucing up our premises. Under 
their community project titled “Bridging 
the Gap”, tertiary students from the 
Singapore Management University 
(SMU) engaged 10 of our patients in 
weekly arts sessions from 11 to 25 April 
2010 and exchanged completed art 
pieces with each other at the end of 
their stint.
 With music being the universal 
language, soothing melodies evoke 
strong resonance. Lilting renditions 

delivered by the prefectorial group 
from Tanjong Katong Girls’ School 
on 8 April 2009 and Christmas 
carols performed by students 
from Greenview Secondary on 18 
December 2009 touched the hearts 
and lifted the spirits of our seniors. 
 We were encouraged that such 
volunteering opportunities were 
well-received among the youths, 
for such positive response reflected 
their willingness to give back to the 
community. The lessons learned as 
generations bonded together brought 
tangible benefits to the young and old 
alike. The seniors took pride in shaping 
the values of the young, from whom 
they found energy and enthusiasm. 

Community Outreach
Declining stamina and diminishing 
social networks were identified as 
primary factors that curtailed the 
level of support and companionship 

received by the elderly. Events like 
festive celebrations and group parties 
were thus held to broaden our seniors’ 
choice and breadth of community 
participation.
 Viewing the residents and 
grassroots organisations within our 
vicinity as our direct stakeholders, we 
courted their participation, hence 
injecting more bustle and vibrance 
into these occasions. This consequently 
gave us valuable opportunities 
to promote positive values and 
perceptions towards ageing, inter-
generational cohesion and racial 
harmony.
 A significant example was our 
annual Hari Raya celebration that was 
jointly organised with the Darul Ghufran 
Mosque on 14 October 2009 at the 
Tampines Changkat CC. Graced by 
Ms Irene Ng, MP for Tampines GRC, the 
event attracted a 250-strong turnout 
comprising grassroots and religious 

Lilting renditions delivered by the prefectorial group from Tanjong Katong Girls’ School on 8 April 2009 

touched the hearts and lifted the spirits of our seniors. 
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representatives, our beneficiaries and 
elderly peers from various welfare 
homes.
 In the interim, we stepped up our 
efforts in public health education by 
giving complimentary health checks 
at community events held by our 
parent organisation, grassroots bodies 
and external parties like the Bedok 
Reservoir-Punggol GROs and Andalus 
Education Centre (AEC). Our volunteer 
nurse Mr Mohd Jailani Mohd Jalil also 
conducted a talk on diabetes for the 
AEC. 
 Our goodwill was reciprocated 
with many acts of kindness. On 19 
March 2009, the human resource 
department of ITE College East 
regaled our elders with high tea, a 
karaoke session, games and goodie 
bags in its campus. In another 
instance, the Wan Boo Sow Charity 
Fund Ltd gave our beneficiaries a 
lunch treat to commemorate the birth 
anniversary of the late Mr Wan on 29 

September 2009.
 To fulfil our vision as an effective 
agent of change, we sought to 
entrench an active social profile. 
Representing Metta in the Adopt-a-
VWO Dragon Boat Fun Race at Bedok 
Reservoir Park on 26 April 2009, seven 
of our staff displayed solidarity with 
fellow rowers from other organisations. 
Initiated by the North East Community 
Development Council (CDC), the 
event aimed to promote fitness, bonds 
and team spirit via dragon boat racing 
as a sport.
 On the same day, we put up 
a compendious showcase of our 
services in a bazaar organised by 
the Tampines Changkat Women’s 
Executive Committee in partnership 
with Tampines Street 11 Hawkers and 
Merchants Association. The event, 
which took place at the round market 
in the locale, also saw us raising funds 
by selling handmade stuffed dolls 
crafted by our volunteers. 

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
With better patient education comes 
a demand for higher standards of 
care. Besides benchmarking our 
service delivery against that of 
our peers, a continued emphasis 
will be placed on reviewing 
feedback, programme framework 
and procedures to further improve 
workflow and patient communication.
 In the meantime, we see the 
imperative need to refurbish our 
premises to create a more vibrant 
and conducive environment for 
our beneficiaries. With improved 
facilities and equipment having a 
direct and significant bearing on their 
rehabilitative outcomes, they will be 
able to derive maximum gains from 
their stay in our centre.
 To this end, we hope to attract 
donors and volunteers who could 
assist us in our facelift and equipment 
purchase. Last but not least, we shall 
continue to work closely with schools 
to initiate more outreach programmes 
for youths.

On 18 February 2010, we received guest visitors from the Catholic University of Korea, College of Nursing 

(Hospice and Palliative Care Centre) who were on a study trip to learn more about social healthcare in 

Singapore. 
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
Set up in June 2000 to offer free home 
hospice care to the terminally ill of all 
ages and races, the Metta Hospice 
Care helps patients live with quality 
and dignity throughout the last phase 
of their lives.
 Funded in part by the MOH and 
NCSS, our services are delivered via 
an inter-disciplinary team of doctors, 
nurses, spiritual advisors and a social 
worker-cum-counsellor. A member of 
the Singapore Hospice Council and 
Asia Pacific Hospice Network, we take 
care of patients who are referred 
from medical institutions and general 
practitioners. 
 Diagnosed with life-limiting illnesses 
such as cancer and end-stage renal 
failure, these patients have primarily 
ceased curative treatment and 
have a prognosis of one year or less 
to live. Through our domiciliary care, 
they continue to receive nursing aid, 
medical supervision and medications 
for pain and other symptoms in the 
comfort of their own homes. 

Palliative & Hospice Care
Palliative and hospice care form the 

two main tenets of our services. While 
the former entails pain relief and 
management of other symptoms like 
nausea and fatigue, the latter tends to 
the physical, emotional, psychosocial 
and spiritual needs of patients and 
caregivers. Neither hastening nor 
postponing death, both culminate 
into a holistic approach that aims 
to alleviate suffering and maximise 
quality of life.
 Aligned to this goal is our 
comprehensive range of medical, 
nursing, social, emotional and spiritual 
support, which ensures that our 
patients undergo a smooth transition 
from acute care in hospitals to 
home care that is clean, safe and 
convenient.
 To facilitate the development of 
individualised care plans, their needs 
and conditions are first assessed to 
determine the most suitable type of 
care and equipment. The intensity of 
home visits and reliance on equipment 
are then paced according to the 

severity of their conditions during 
follow-up care.
 Besides administering medication, 
counselling and therapies, our medical 
personnel work with the patients’ 
families and primary physicians to 
achieve total care management. 
Concomitantly, measures like teaching 
caregivers basic nursing routines and 
free equipment loans help ensure the 
continuity of effective home care 
during intervals between visits. 

Support Services
Believing that emotional and spiritual 
pain are as veritable as physical 
afflictions, we offer counselling services 
and spiritual support to both the 
patients and their families to help them 
cope with end-of-life issues, including 
grief management. 
 At the same time, spiritual advisors 
from various faiths are available to 
help them connect to their religions or 
draw strength from personal values. 
We also facilitate their arrangement 

Besides administering medication, counselling and therapies, our nurses work with the patients’ caregivers 

and families to achieve total care management. 
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for additional care services as well 
as subsidy applications with medical 
institutions and social assistance 
providers.

ACHIEVEMENTS
The year in review was marked by 
economic and health crises, but 
these did not deter us from charting a 
record number of 168 referrals. In spite 
of the hard work, we sought immense 
gratification and delight in being able 
to render our service to more needy 
patients during these tough times. 
 Our nurses continued to win over 
the patients with their friendliness, 
sincerity and willingness to go beyond 
what was expected when discharging 
their duties. They deserve our utmost 

respect and appreciation for having 
worked painstakingly behind the 
scenes and around the clock at a time 
when the H1N1 outbreak came to the 
fore.
 Fundamentals notwithstanding, 
our ability to surmount the trying 
conditions would not be possible 
without the timely grant from the 
MOH VWO Contingency Fund. A relief 
measure administered by the MOH, 
it aimed to help charities involved in 
healthcare provision tide over the 
prevailing economic downturn.
 Vital in defraying our operational 
expenditure, the $254,000 handout 
allowed us to carry on offering free 
hospice care to our existing patients 
and keeping our services open to new 

referrals without having to turn them 
away for fear of straining our coffers.
 As such, we were able to remain 
focused on our commitment to deliver 
quality care and develop professional 
competencies, thus attaining high 
clinical standards.

Enhanced Expertise
It is our utmost privilege to have 
Associate Professor Cynthia Goh, 
Head of the Palliative Medicine 
Department of National Cancer 
Centre Singapore and Centre Director 
of the Lien Centre for Palliative Care 
(LCPC) as our Clinical Consultant. Her 
participation in our monthly meetings 
enabled us to tap on her wealth of 
expertise on patient management 
and clinical audits, thereby enhancing 
the depth and quality of our services. 
 On the training front, we 
conducted undergraduate and 
postgraduate medical training 
in palliative care through clinical 
attachments for interns from the 
National University of Singapore (NUS) 
and Duke-NUS Graduate Medical 
School Singapore. Similar placements 
were offered to nurses undergoing 

Held in the Metta School Sports Hall on 12 July 2009, our seventh annual blood donation drive attracted 

142 participants and collected 117 units of blood. 
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palliative care courses too. Their 
involvement not only allowed us to 
share our conviction in delivering 
quality end-of-life care but also 
brought joy and companionship to our 
patients.
 Believing that service and learning 
goals shared a synergistic relationship, 
our staff constantly honed their 
expertise in domiciliary care, new 
treatment methods and protocols 
through relevant courses, conferences 
and seminars.
 New nursing recruits attended 
palliative care courses, whereas 
existing staff were trained in basic 
and advance palliative counselling. 
Medical talks were also conducted 
in-house monthly.
 In particular, the 8th Asia Pacific 
Hospice Conference and the 10th 
Australia Palliative Care Conference 
that were held in Perth between 24 
and 27 September 2009 introduced 
our staff to world-class practices.
 Additionally, we took turns with 
local hospices to co-organise the 
Journal Club with LCPC on a monthly 
basis. The club posed as a platform 
for the sharing of topics and research 

findings relevant to palliative care. 
During our workshop held at the Metta 
School on 26 January 2010, speaker 
Dr Winston Ee delivered some useful 
pointers on Fentanyl Patch. 

Youth Awareness
By profiling our services positively in 
their community projects, youths who 
believed in advocating end-of-life 
issues gave a tremendous boost to 
our public education efforts.
 Through their assignment titled 
“Daring to be Different: The Story of 
Project Sowon”, Team CARElibre from 
the SMU endeavoured to reduce 
negative perceptions and stereotypes 
associated with hospice care. Their 
vision was to effect the spreading of 
hope to the terminally ill by granting 
their wishes and generate greater 
acceptance towards end-of-life care 
through public education. 
 At the Voices for Hospices 
concert on 10 October 2009, the 
team shared the life stories of our 
patients – Mr Ramli Kassan and Mr 
Shafie Bahari – at an exhibition booth 
that they had set up to showcase 

end-of-life care. The public was 
encouraged to pen their well-wishes 
for the patients in books handmade 
by the team.
 Along with items that both 
patients wished for – an air ring 
cushion and a fish tank with an 
arowana, the books were then 
presented to them as meaningful 
sources of encouragement to help 
them battle their illnesses.
 On the other hand, students 
from the Nanyang Technological 
University formed a befriending 
group as an outreach initiative for our 
patients in December 2009. Through 
understanding the journey that 
patients and families had to undergo 
in the face of life-limiting illnesses, 
they gained valuable life lessons 
about love, sacrifice, courage and 
strength.
 Apart from delivering much 
cheer to their subjects, these students 
perpetuated greater awareness, 
improved perceptions and openness 
on discussions about death and 
hospice care among more youths by 
sharing their experiences.

To strengthen the caregivers’ expertise in caring for our beneficiaries, monthly training courses covering 

areas like symptom management and provision of psychological support to patients are conducted. 
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 Such active participation 
reflected their maturity and 
compassion – qualities that are 
vital in developing a society which 
embraces the philosophy of hospice 
care.

Community Outreach
Our seventh annual blood drive was 
organised jointly with the Changi Simei 
Civil Defence Executive Committee 
and Singapore Red Cross in the Metta 
School Sports Hall on 12 July 2009. 

Graced by our President Venerable Shi 
Fa Zhao, the drive exceeded its 100 
mark with 117 units collected.
 The H1N1 outbreak did not deter 
a steady stream of donors from 
supporting the life-saving cause. A 
mini-bazaar was set up as a fringe 
highlight to kindle the participants’ 
retail zest. The crowd totalled 142 at 
curtain call, and counting among 
the eligible donors were our Medical 
Advisor Dr Wong Sin Yew and regular 
volunteers. The donors were given 

certificates, goodie bags, snacks 
and drinks in appreciation of their 
contributions. 

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
While we have made considerable 
progress this year, we hope to increase 
the capacity of our live patients from 
75 to 100 in the coming year. On the 
other hand, we hope to foster deeper 
engagement among youth volunteers 
in meaningful community projects. 
Their energy and zeal in advancing 
the cause of hospice and palliative 
care will inject greater drive and 
sustainability into our campaign efforts. 
 Meanwhile, the latter is expected 
to peak with our holding of Voices 
for Hospices in 2010 – an annual 
celebration organised by local 
hospices in conjunction with the 
Hospice Awareness Week and in 
commemoration of the World Hospice 
& Palliative Care Day. 
 As the proud host, we welcome 
this opportunity with anticipation 
and relish. We strive to conceptualise 
a memorable line-up that not only 
entertains, but also educates and 
inspires the audience.

Among our public education efforts are complimentary health checks in grassroots occasions and 

community events such as this at the Metta Charity Run held on 6 March 2010. 
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
Jointly spearheaded by the South East 
CDC and Metta, our student care 
centre offers quality yet affordable 
care services to children aged seven 
to 14 from various races, religions and 
socio-economic backgrounds.
 Our primary sources of funding 
come from Metta and the service 
fees charged. Able to accommodate 
110 pupils, our centre provides 
regular student care services as well 
as emergency care service for walk-
in parents whose children require 
temporary supervision. Fee subsidies 
are given to low-income families. 

Integrated Curriculum
In line with our goal to create a 
conducive environment that supports 
holistic development, we offer diverse 
learning opportunities that cater for 
different types of learners. 
 Structured programmes that 
provide academic support and 
enrichment options help nurture our 
students into confident individuals with 
a positive attitude towards learning.
 The former includes supervision 
of homework, reinforcement of 

school curriculum through graded 
worksheets, group discussions and 
remedial lessons. At the same time, 
enrichment programmes like arts and 
crafts, speech and drama, storytelling, 
music and dancing are provided. 
 All these serve to develop 
their interests and talents beyond 
academia to promote an inquiring 
spirit, strategic thinking, creativity and 
valuable life skills. 
 Encouraging personal exploration 
through recreation and play are 
sports and team-building activities, 
educational visits and nature trips. 
Developing their IT competency are 
programmes that teach them how to 
acquire, evaluate, organise, interpret 
and communicate information 
through technology. 
 Under the presence of a 
conducive environment, our pupils 
learn to network with other peers, 
share their experiences and enhance 

each other’s educational goals. 
 Recognising that the community 
represents an arena where they 
can maximise their potential and 
make a difference to the lives of the 
underprivileged, we provide them with 
opportunities to participate actively 
in outreach programmes, thereby 
facilitating the inculcation of a strong 
value system.

ACHIEVEMENTS
With effect from 1 July 2009, we 
streamlined our operations with the 
merger of SE CDC-Metta Student 
Care Centres 1 and 2. Consolidating 
our resources for more efficient use, 
the move allowed us to attain cost 
effectiveness and operational viability.
 On the academic front, we 
maintained 100% passing rate on 
our students’ Primary School Leaving 
Examination. The cohort fared beyond 
our expectations, with the top student 

Festive celebrations such as this during the Lunar New Year help promote our students’ appreciation of 

culture and heritage. 
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achieving an aggregate score of 265. 

Youth Involvement
Our endeavours to build a better 
future for young people imbued us 
with a sense of achievement and 
fulfilment. Many youth volunteers 
appointed us as the beneficiaries 
of their community involvement 
programmes that ran the gamut of 
team-building activities to cultural 
exchanges, arts and crafts sessions to 
entertaining performances.
 Among them were students 
from the NUS who visited our centre 
on 19 February 2010 following their 
cultural exchange trip to Myanmar. 

The stopover was mooted to share 
their experiences with our juniors 
to increase their awareness and 
empathy towards children in less 
developed countries.
 Their introduction on Myanmarese 
culture, indigenous crafts and 
traditional culinary herbs and spices 
was met with interest and enthusiasm 
by our students, who were each given 
a gift made by native children at the 
end of the day.
 This marked an uplifting 
continuation of the mirth created on 
12 February 2010 by student volunteers 
from ITE College Central, whose line-
up of arts and crafts, games and a 

sing-along session in celebration of the 
Lunar New Year regaled them greatly.
 We were deeply encouraged 
that these youths shared their time 
with our students, for it indicated 
their immense gratification in being 
positive role models. With their support, 
our outreach extended beyond the 
classroom.
 An important platform for 
extending our programme diversity 
and capability, such collaborations 
with various volunteer groups led 
to rewarding experiences that 
supplemented our pupils’ learning 
journey, while giving us the privileged 
opportunity to assist them in their civic 
projects.
 Making a return to society, 
we collaborated with the MCYS 
to enable juvenile probationers to 
fulfil their Community Service Order 
at our centre. Entrusting them with 
meaningful tasks and responsibilities, 
we hoped to mould their character 
and develop their sense of purpose. 
We were heartened to see these 
rehabilitative stints effecting positive 
changes, the most visible of which was 
their care towards our juniors. 

Following their cultural exchange trip to Myanmar, students from the NUS visited our centre on 19 

February 2010 to share their experiences with our juniors.
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Varied Enhancements
Concomitantly, dynamic and multi-
faceted learning was incorporated 
into our programme offerings. Kindling 
our students’ love for nature was 
a treetop adventure at the Bedok 
Reservoir Park. Experiential learning 
came into play as they explored 
a specially created aerial trail, 
which enabled them to traverse the 
greenery aboveground using ladders, 
bridges, swings, trapezes and slides.
 Igniting greater holiday fun and 
paving for more out-of-classroom 
learning were hands-on activities 
that exposed them to variegated 
experiences. Besides learning how to 
purchase food items from the market, 
they tried to whip up nutritious meals 
with the ingredients. 
 Recognising that our programme 
officers played a key part in 
developing our young, we engaged 
them in regular training and 
developmental courses so as to build 
on their strengths in pedagogy.
 Conversely, they valued their role 
as a mentor in guiding their students 
to adapt and excel beyond the 
classroom, taking pride in shaping 

their lives, especially those who were 
transiting into teenagehood.  
 This helped foster stronger bonds 
and mutual learning, hence allowing 
the teachers to understand and 
share the perspectives of the younger 
generation.
 Apart from such emotional 
support, nourishing our students 
physically were weekly supplies of 
bread from Food from the Heart that 
left us brimming with gratitude.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
We shall continue to augment our 
programme diversity and teaching 
methods so as to inspire these young 
minds and strengthen their holistic 
development. To this end, we hope 
to forge more strategic partnerships 
with educational institutions in initiating 
learning and outreach projects that 
let our pupils thrive in their capabilities 
and excel in multiple domains.

Student volunteers from the ITE College Central carrying out a series of activities at our centre in 

celebration of the Lunar New Year on 12 February 2010.
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The Metta PreSchool @Punggol was officially opened on 31 July 2010 by Ms Penny Low, MP for Pasir 

Ris-Punggol GRC.
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
Established in May 2007, the Metta 
PreSchool is a non-profit institution 
specialising in early intervention 
programmes for children aged three 
to six from various races and religions 
who are diagnosed with mild to 
moderate autism spectrum disorders 
(ASD) and/or intellectual disabilities.
 Our pupils are usually referred 
from hospitals, paediatricians and 
the Centre for Enabled Living Ltd. 
Supported by the MCYS, NCSS and 
Metta, we provide customised 
intervention programmes for these 
children in order to address their 
developmental lags, promote a 
satisfactory level of independence 
and realise their potential. 
 Early diagnoses of their disabilities 
coupled with appropriate intervention 
programmes can help them cope 
with the disabilities, prevent the 
conditions from deteriorating and 
maximise their development and 
capabilities.

Curriculum
We strive to assist the children in 
developing their fullest potential 

through an enriching curriculum that 
is beneficial and developmentally 
appropriate.
 Designed with their holistic 
development in mind, our curriculum 
encompasses the following 
programmes that equip them with the 
skills and abilities necessary for further 
education:
• Preschool academic skills 

comprising language & literacy, 
numeracy, arts & crafts and 
discovery & exploration

• Physical development (motor skills)
• Personal development (self-help 

skills)
• Social and emotional development

 Individualised education plans 
(IEPs) are drawn up for the children 
by our teachers in consultation 
with parents/guardians and our 
paramedical team to identify their 
unique learning needs, from which 
customised programmes are devised. 
To ensure that their learning needs 
and goals are met, these IEPs are 
reviewed regularly to assess the 
outcomes.

Support Services
Tending to the children’s physiological 
and emotional development is a 
multi-disciplinary team comprising 
a psychologist, an occupational 
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Staff from the Holiday Inn Singapore Orchard City Centre conducted two community outreach programmes 

between July and August 2009 at our preschool. 
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therapist and a speech therapist, 
together with a social worker who 
offers social support services and 
assistance. Concertedly, they assist 
families and caregivers in picking 
up relevant knowledge and skills to 
manage the myriad of challenges 
faced by special needs children.
 As we are an approved institution 
under the Children Development Co-
Savings (Baby Bonus) Scheme, eligible 
parents can use the savings available 
in their kids’ Children Development 
Account to pay for the school fees.
 To ensure that needy children 
can benefit from our services, 
subsidies are given to low-income 
families base on their monthly per 
capita income. We also work closely 
with the MCYS and NCSS to assist 
needy families through specific 
funding schemes. On the other 
hand, the Education Endowment 

Fund created by our headquarters 
provides further financial aid for 
disadvantaged pupils in the form of 
bursaries and book prizes.

ACHIEVEMENTS
We made a promising leap in the 
reviewed year, as our new branch 
in Punggol commenced operations 
in June 2010 to serve preschoolers 
with special needs residing in the 
northeast region. In order to let 
these children reap maximum gains 
from their learning environment, our 
premises are equipped with facilities 
and features designed to meet their 
diverse needs.
 Concomitantly, quality strides 
were achieved in our service delivery. 
Always there to support, counsel 
and share, our teaching staff and 
allied professionals fostered strong 
rapport with the pupils’ parents who 

were won over by their dedication. 
This encouraged the latter to be 
forthcoming with their feedback, 
which allowed us to work closely with 
them in achieving continuity in home-
based intervention. 
 Such valuable input also assisted 
us in forming holistic profiles of 
our pupils across different settings 
(namely in home and social 
environments), hence enabling 
us to better understand their 
developmental and learning needs. 
We were thus able to pique the 
juniors’ curiosity and enliven their 
imagination, thereby helping them 
discover the joy of learning.

Metta PreSchool @Punggol 
Targeted for an initial capacity of 60, 
Metta PreSchool @Simei opened its 
doors on 2 May 2007 with less than 
five pupils. Within two years, our 
enrolment burgeoned to 61 and the 
current intake peaks at 77. To address 
the rising demand, we secured a site 
in Punggol for our new branch under 
the support of MCYS and Pasir Ris-
Punggol Constituency. 
 Construction of the Metta 
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20 of our preschoolers visited the Underwater World on 8 June 2010 courtesy of Singapore Pools.
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PreSchool @Punggol went into full 
swing following a groundbreaking 
ceremony on 2 October 2009. By the 
end of our fiscal year, the building 
cost of $564,840 was fully defrayed by 
government grants and the largesse 
of our donors. Able to accommodate 
132 pupils, this larger, purpose-built 
structure commenced operations 
on 1 June 2010 with an intake of 11 
preschoolers.  
 The centre was officially opened 
on 31 July by Ms Penny Low, MP for 
Pasir Ris-Punggol GRC. Measuring 
660 square metres, it houses eight 
classrooms and facilities for one-
to-one teaching, soft play, sensory 
intervention, counselling and 
occupational therapy.

Staff Training
Given the magnitude and success of 
its special education curriculum, the 
Metta School presented an ideal and 
veritable learning ground for us to 
augment our teaching capabilities.
 Our training partnership with the 
school initiated a series of immersion 
programmes that gave our teaching 
staff a chance to be involved in its 

classroom pedagogy. Classes were 
chosen base on the closest match to 
our pupils in terms of learning profiles 
and age (seven to eight years old).
 Primarily centred on 
classroom learning, these week-
long attachments gave our staff 
valuable insights into curriculum 
development, intervention 
techniques, routine structures, 
teacher-student interaction, effective 
use of educational resources, 
developmental outcomes, as well as 
the interplay between learning and 
environmental factors. 
 Working closely alongside their 
counterparts enabled our staff to 
harness the requisites of effective 
pedagogy and integrate them into 
their teaching regimes.
 Our staff also attended a 
three-day in-house course on 
Child First Aid Training during the 
December holidays. Conducted 
by Pratique First Aid, it equipped 
them with emergency handling 

skills. On 10 May 2010, our teachers 
strengthened their competency 
in behavioural intervention 
through an insightful workshop on 
“Behaviour Management for Young 
Children” led by a specialist from 
Autism Partnership. The latter is an 
international agency that specialises 
in behavioural management of 
autism-related disorders.

Corporate Philanthropy
By twinning caring goals with 
philanthropic gestures, meaningful 
outreach programmes and 
sponsorships initiated by our 
corporate partners brought fun and 
joy to our children, providing valuable 
opportunities for enriched experiential 
learning.
 Staff from the Holiday Inn 
Singapore Orchard City Centre spent 
a delightful morning with our pupils 
on 16 July 2009 trying their hands on 
stained glass painting and creating 
unique picture frames.
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22 staff volunteers from the healthcare division of Siemens Pte Ltd accompanied 20 of our preschoolers on 

a sponsored excursion to the Singapore Zoo on 21 April 2010.
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 Kicking off a party on 7 August 
was another team from the hotel 
who turned up with a magician-cum-
balloon sculptor to regale the kids 
with fascinating tricks and balloon 
sculptures. Besides teaching the 
children how to make their own flags, 
the volunteers feted the nation’s 
birthday with a huge cake and 
goodie bags for the preschoolers.
 Fuelled by its commitment to 
encourage positive social and 
educational growth in special 
needs children, Siemens’ healthcare 
division sponsored an excursion 
to the Singapore Zoo for 20 of our 
preschoolers on 21 April 2010. 22 staff 
from the German conglomerate even 
volunteered to accompany the kids.
 Meanwhile, similar initiatives by 
the Singapore Pools and National 
Parks Board helped our preschoolers 
nurture a connection with nature. 
The former sponsored a trip to the 
Underwater World on 8 June 2010 for 

20 preschoolers, whereas the latter 
invited 15 pupils to the Singapore 
Garden Festival on 15 July 2010.
 In the interim were outreach 
efforts initiated by student volunteers, 
whom in the process of caring for 
the preschoolers, endowed us with 
joyous and fun memories. Between 
June 2009 and July 2010, the SMU 
fielded four groups of undergraduates 
from various faculties to interact with 
our preschoolers via outdoor and 
classroom learning activities. 
 Students from Ngee Ann, 
Temasek and Singapore Polytechnic 
also planned classroom activities 
for the juniors and volunteered as 
teacher aides from December 2009 
to June 2010. 

Community Involvement
On 15 May 2010, 22 of our 
preschoolers delivered the opening 
dance at the Vesak Day Charity 
Dinner before hundreds of guests. 

The event, which was held to raise 
funds for the new Metta PreSchool 
@Punggol, showcased their 
angelic charm via their vivacious 
performance and adorable get-
up. Not only did these winsome 
attributes endear them to the guests, 
their spirited attempts represented 
a quantum leap in overcoming their 
sensory limitations.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
With a combined capacity of 
230, we are well on our way to 
establish a stronger presence in the 
early intervention sector. Moving 
forward, we seek to collaborate 
with neighbouring preschools and 
kindergartens to provide professional 
yet affordable assessments for 
children with special needs who are 
referred from these centres. 
 In addition, we aim to work with 
more learning institutions to conduct 
voluntary and exchange programmes 
that would promote greater 
understanding on early intervention 
services.
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
Established in 2001, the Metta School 
offers special education to children 
aged between seven and 18 from 
various races and religions, who are 
diagnosed with mild intellectual 
disability (IQ range of 50 to 70) and/or 
mild autism spectrum disorders (ASD).
 Supported by the MOE, NCSS 
and Metta, we strive to fulfill the 
imperative aim of helping these 
children function optimally as self-
reliant and contributive individuals, 
empowering them with the means to 
lead independent and meaningful 
lives.
 Working concertedly towards 
this mission is our professional team 
of teachers, psychologists, speech 
therapists, occupational therapist, 
social worker and job placement 
officer, whose dedication is 
underpinned by the following core 
values:
1. Outcome for students
 Train and nourish students to be 

confident, responsible, useful and 
ready for employment

2. Commitment as a school
 Support continuous improvement 

of instructions and build strong 
relationships

3. Expectation for all students and 
staff

 Create a safe, peaceful, healthy, 
enriched and caring environment

 Central to these principles is our 
robust and broad-based curriculum 
that serves to educate, engage and 
inspire our young charges through 
ample focus placed on each of 
these areas:

Functional Academics
The Workplace Literacy and 
Numeracy (WPLN) programme was 
implemented since 2007 to develop 
the students’ reading and listening 
proficiencies in English as well as 
arithmetic capabilities. It involves 
assessing the students’ current 

competency level in these areas 
and determining suitable levels 
of coaching to promote effective 
learning on their part.

Metta-ITE Skills Certification (ISC) 

Programme 
Under this two-year programme, 
ITE-certified vocational courses 
in baking, food preparation and 
housekeeping are offered to eligible 
students aged 17 and above.
 During the first year, trainees are 
required to undergo 140 hours of off-
the-job training in a classroom setting 
to acquire technical concepts and 
knowledge related to their area of 
specialisation. This is followed by 528 
hours of on-the-job training in actual 
job settings in the second year. Such 
attachments are supervised by ITE 

On 26 May 2010, we hosted the Coordinating Committee for Special Education in a meeting that was 

chaired by Ms Grace Fu, Senior Minister of State for Ministry of National Development and Education 

(front row, fifth from left). Focusing on issues related to the special education sector, it was attended by 

representatives from the MOE, NCSS, MCYS, National Institute of Education, Workforce Development 

Agency and ITE.
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approved trainers.
 Throughout the course tenure, 
our trainees also take up the following 
modules to cultivate a wider set of 
competencies to help them cope 
with real-life work contexts:
• WPLN to enhance their proficiency 

in English and Mathematics
• Work Place Information Technology 

and Work Place Skills (Personal 
Effectiveness) to gain computer 
and soft skills

School-To-Work Programme
Introduced in January 2006, this 
programme prepares students in 
general for future employment and 
external work demands via job 
attachments. These supplementary 
stints enable them to gain work 
experience and the confidence to 
navigate job routines.

Performing Arts
Hailing from diverse ethnic 
backgrounds, performing arts the 
likes of angklung, gamelan, handbell, 
Chinese orchestra, percussion, music 
and drama immerse our students in 
a culturally rich, multi-faceted and 
dynamic learning environment. 
 The availability of these artistic 
settings allows our students to build 
their commitment towards excellence 
and foster cultural sensitivities. 
Perseverance, patience, teamwork 
and discipline are cultivated in 
the passionate execution of their 
performing talents, thus fulfilling 
the broader agenda of character 
building.

Visual Arts
Adding diversity and depth to our 
students’ learning experience is an 

exciting palette of visual arts activities, 
which boasts choices like batik 
painting, mosaic art, pottery, Chinese 
calligraphy and photo-taking.
 Encouraging them to harness 
their interests and talents beyond 
academia, our flourishing range of 
aesthetic arts taps on their natural 
ability to relate to colour and form, 
paving for creative avenues of self-
expression and engaging alternatives 
to occupational therapy.

Sports and Games
Believing that sports are an important 
asset to our students’ development, 
we seek to contribute to their growth 
and character through a line-up 
of competitive and recreational 
sports. Besides reaping health 
benefits, they learn to internalise 
positive values associated with sports 
such as resilience, discipline and 
sportsmanship.
 Our efforts to promote sporting 
zeal in our students have contributed 
to an overall rise in sports participation 
rate and our athletes’ increasingly 
stellar performances in external 
competitions.

Crowne Plaza Changi Airport (represented by its General Manager Mr Mark Winterton, second from left) 

inked a formal partnership with us on 23 October 2009 to impart vocational skills sets to our students 

through training opportunities in its pastry, culinary and housekeeping departments.
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Student Welfare
At the Metta School, every student 
enjoys equal rights and access to 
learning opportunities. We have 
various assistance schemes in place 
to help children from low-income 
families:

Assistance Scheme
 No. of  

  Recipients
School Fees 59
School Bus Transport 62
Bus Stamp/MRT 58
Grocery 98

(As at 31 March 2010)

 In addition to these, 123 students 
receive help in schooling essentials 
such as uniforms and shoes.

ACHIEVEMENTS
The year in review saw us reinforcing 
our training capabilities and 
vocational programmes through avid 
corporate partnerships that gave us 
access to industry expertise, as well as 
job attachments and placements for 
our trainees.
 Like a proud parent, we were 
extremely heartened to witness our 

pioneer batch of trainees carving 
out an identity for themselves as a 
dependable workforce, following 
their graduation from our ISC 
programme. Through our continued 
push for excellence, our students also 
produced sterling results in the arts 
and sports arenas.
 
Pioneer Vocational Graduates
Unveiling an uplifting chapter of their 
coming of age, our Speech Day 
on 18 November 2009 marked the 
graduation of our maiden cohort 
from our ISC Programme. 
 29 out of 34 second-year 
trainees completed the programme 
successfully to be equipped with 
industry-accredited skills and 
certification. To date, 26 among them 
have secured employment with our 

corporate partners, including Crowne 
Plaza Changi Airport (CPCA), Park 
Avenue Suites, Mr Bean, Han’s (F&B) 
outlets, Secret Recipe, McDonald’s 
and the Happy Arts Vegetarian Café. 
One even went on to pursue higher 
qualifications with the Baking Industry 
Training Centre.
 Having left the warm folds of our 
school to embrace the social milieu 
as their new learning ground, we wish 
them every success in realising their 
aspirations and many more defining 
moments to come.

Corporate Training Partnerships
Since we became an ITE approved 
training centre in June 2008, we 
have been actively seeking out 
and working with industry partners 
to offer suitable apprenticeships 

Our Speech Day on 18 November 2009 witnessed the graduation of our pioneer batch of trainees from the 

ITE Skills Certificate Programme that was first launched in 2008.
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and vocational attachments to our 
trainees under the ISC Programme.
 Apart from being a grateful 
recipient of these opportunities, we 
were fortunate to have the ardent 
support of these giving partners who 
sent their staff as professional guest 
trainers to coach our trainees.
 Our trainees from the food 
preparation programme benefitted 
immensely from the culinary 
workshops initiated by CPCA and 
Royal Plaza on Scotts. In addition, the 
former conducted a similar session for 
our housekeeping trainees.  
 The highlight among our 
corporate tie-ups was undoubtedly 
the inking of a formal agreement with 
the CPCA on 23 October 2009. This 
milestone was charted following eight 

months of amicable collaboration, 
during which it provided work 
attachments in support of our 
vocational training programme.
 Exemplifying the true spirit 
of hospitality, the hotel sealed its 
commitment in playing a more active 
role in imparting relevant industry 
knowledge and skills sets to both our 
staff and students through training 
prospects in its pastry, culinary and 
housekeeping divisions. To date, 
the hotel has employed five of our 
graduates under these departments.
 
Reading Mastery Programme
A reading programme designed to 
provide intensive and systematic 
phonics instruction, the Reading 
Mastery Signature Edition for Grade K 

(RM-K) helps early readers understand 
how letters are linked to sounds 
(phonemes) so as to form letter-
sound correspondence and spelling 
patterns.
 As part of a reading project 
piloted by the MOE in 2009, 25 of 
our students aged seven to nine 
with reading difficulties were placed 
under the RM-K programme, through 
which they acquired phonemic 
awareness and learnt letter-sound 
correspondence, before advancing 
to word-, passage- and oral-reading 
in that order. 
 These students were noted to 
have made substantial progress in 
reading with positive outcomes in 
other curricular areas. In January 
2010, the RM-K programme was 
officially introduced to students 
aged seven to 12 years old with mild 
intellectual disability. We currently 
have around 80 students under this 
programme and most of our teaching 
staff have been trained in RM-K 
instruction delivery.

Distinguished Visits
Over the year, we were honoured 

Recycling solution provider TES-AMM engaged all of its staff to deliver cheer to our students on 3 

November 2009 with a string of treats.

2009ฤ11Ꮬ3྇ǈ࢟ᔇृ໰ᇕૄ၃Ᏻည৛ႊTES-AMMࣅᏋჅᎌࡼᒆᏋǈᔪࣁ౒ࠢࡗ਒ኧቅࡼኧည

ඣǈᆐჇඣࡒ౶౐ಘă



Special Education ᒝᑇᎧᔈܕᑸ୴Ꮉ

56

to be the subject of study trips 
conducted by both local and foreign 
educators who had shown a kind 
interest in our special needs curriculum 
and pedagogy. We were also a proud 
host to esteemed visitors from various 
ministries and governing bodies. 
 On 13 May 2010, we hosted a 
visit-cum-dialogue session for the 
President of NCSS, RADM (Ret) Kwek 
Siew Jin and his senior management 
team comprising Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) Ms Ang Bee Lian, 
Deputy CEO Ms Tina Hung and 
directors from several divisions. 
 Days later on 26 May, we were 
privileged to host the Coordinating 
Committee for Special Education in 
a meeting that was chaired by Ms 
Grace Fu, Senior Minister of State for 
Ministry of National Development 
and Education. The meeting, which 
focused on issues relating to the 
special education sector, was 
attended by representatives from 
the MOE, NCSS, MCYS, National 
Institute of Education, Workforce 
Development Agency and ITE. 
 In both occasions, the visitors 
were presented with a variety of entry 

points to our robust training curriculum. 
Not only were they impressed by our 
wide-ranging facilities and vocational 
programmes, they were also 
enamoured by the sights and sounds 
of our students’ veritable performing 
and visual arts showcase.

Corporate Volunteerism
Corporate volunteerism not only 
helped us foster friendships across 
different sectors, but most importantly, 
it supported our vision to promote 
an inclusive milieu under which our 
children could thrive.

We were privileged to host a visit-cum-dialogue session for NCSS’ President RADM (Ret) Kwek Siew Jin 

and his management team on 13 May 2010. Standing in the foreground on the right is NCSS’ CEO Ms Ang 

Bee Lian.
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XL Insurance and XL Re 
28 staff from XL Insurance and XL Re 
joined 80 students in a science camp 
on 3 June 2009. Besides guiding the 
juniors in their assigned projects and 
experiments, collective attempts were 
made to create mini-parachutes, 
simple pyramids and puzzles. Their 
ebullience and the students’ zest 
precipitated remarkable chemistry, 
as brisk interaction took place amid 
experiential learning.
 The students were also seen 
tucking in happily to a buffet lunch 
served by the caring Samaritans, 
whose ardent participation rounded 
off the juniors’ three-day camp in 
school on a rousing yet heartwarming 
note. Conducted in tandem with 
more than 100 projects worldwide 
under XL Capital Ltd’s Global Day 
of Giving, the corporate social 
responsibility project aimed to 
support the communities in which XL 
companies operate.

Standard Chartered
The voluntary contingent from 
banking giant Standard Chartered 
chalked up a bullish run for its 

goodwill index through a series 
of outreach projects conducted 
specially for our students. Over 30 
staff volunteers ignited a green wave 
on 22 April 2010 by cultivating eco-
friendly habits among our students 
in commemoration of Earth Day. 
Continuing the bank’s altruistic trail 
on 31 April was a 60-member team 
whose colourful repertoire of games, 
food and free flow of ice-cream 
delivered a mammoth dose of 
merriment to our students.
 At the end of the rousing session, 
the indefatigable Samaritans gamely 
turned into novices to learn from their 
young charges the fundamentals of 
batik painting, mosaic art, Chinese 
calligraphy, pottery, angklung, 
gamelan and percussion. To instill the 
novelty of cross-cultural learning, staff 
volunteers were assigned to activities 
that were non-indigenous to their 
ethnicities. The students, on the other 
hand, clearly relished their teaching 
role.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
Plans are apace to build a five-storey 
annexe to our existing building. 

Besides housing full-fledged facilities 
designed for in-depth vocational 
training and experiential learning, 
there will be more amenities planned 
around the needs of senior students 
with ASD. 
 Estimated at $7 million, this 
extension project will be largely 
funded by capital grants from 
the MOE and our reserves. Piling 
works will begin in June 2011 with 
completion slated for August 2012. 
Concomitantly, we shall continue 
to find innovative ways to synthesise 
our teaching expertise, intervention 
techniques, technology and the arts 
to augment our curriculum.

The voluntary contingent from banking giant Standard Chartered yielded much uplift through a series of outreach projects conducted specially for our students.

ਖෝ๫ࡍĂݤೆች੿ࡼᐖࡌፖቲǈᎅᒆᏋᔝ߅ጙᑽᒔᏒࣩᇏǈེቦऎᄂܰ࢐ᆐࠢ਒ኧቅኧညඣᔝێጙᇹ೰ࡼᅪᐱ૚ࣅă



Special Education ᒝᑇᎧᔈܕᑸ୴Ꮉ

58

Morning Session Staff ࿟ᇍۂᒆᏋ

1st row (from left)
Leonard Lau, Raymond Low, Salamah Yusof, Noraini Mohamad, Anuwar Abdul Wahab, Yong Soo Cheng, 
Liu-Ho Pui Han, Jobina Chia, Jasmine Ng, Siti Masita Selamat 
2nd row (from left)
Edmund Lim, Ika Lestari Sabtu, Tan Mui Hui, Alice Cheong, Sa’adiah Baba, Vasantha Kumari, Zoe Tan, Monica Teh, 
Norhaiza Yep Abu, Florence Tan, Janney Lee, Ivy Yeo, Siti Munirah Amin, Heng Wee Khng
3rd row (from left)
Conrade Kem, Lim Pei Ling, Selina Teo, James Sek, Sharon Norhazeline, Uma Joseph, Yap Tuan Bin, Marilyn Tan, 
Amir Hamzah, Rick Tan, Pang Shea Lee, Serene Yap, Pritam Kaur
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Afternoon Session Staff ሆᇍۂᒆᏋ

1st row (from left)
Irene Ong, Lek Mui Sim, Mary Lim, Tan Bee Ngah, Anuwar Abdul Wahab, Yong Soo Cheng, Gloria Raquiza,
Karen Loh, Noraini Silan, Hamidah Martoh
2nd row (from left)
Dellia Teo, Carine Tiew, Chia Yean Joo, Ng Sock Bee, Vivien Tang, Azizah Mohd Noor, Ng Shin Ding, Angie Chua,
Joey Kua, Ng Mooi Fung, Margaret Su, Noah Tan, Winston Wong, Joy Benedict Chiu, Toh Lay Heong, Maria Soo, 
Ang Ah Moy
3rd row (from left)
Eva Hong, Jegethiswari Kaledas, Siu Kar Luen, Dawn Tan, Sukifah Jumari, Tan Buay Luan, Nancy Lim, Toh Siew Wan, 
Lau Yock Lam, Michelle Lee, Soh Siew Eng, Castillo Mar Lloyd
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Metta Buddhist 
Culture Department
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
The Metta Buddhist Culture 
Department was established along 
with the appointment of Venerable 
Shi Pu En as Metta’s Executive 
Director on 1 January 2009. Since 
inception, we have developed 
a wide range of activities and 
community outreach options that 
seek to enhance our members’ 
spiritual and personal development.
 Our objectives are:
• To promulgate Buddhism and 

compassionate giving
• To uphold benevolence and 

kindness through volunteerism and 
community outreach 

• To be self-sufficient in funding our 
religious, educational and social 
endeavours as well as to help 
defray the operational costs of 
Metta’s welfare centres

Buddhist Services
Conveniently scheduled during the 
weekends and accessibly housed 
within the Metta School, our dharma 
programmes cater for Buddhists from 
various age groups.

Mandarin Dharma Classes 
Held on Saturdays and Sundays 
respectively, elementary and 
intermediate dharma classes for 
adults are taught by our resident 
sangha Venerable Shi Pu Kang 
and Venerable Sik Chuan Guan, 
Chairman of Dharma Propagation 
Committee from the Singapore 
Buddhist Federation. Also available 
on Sundays are classes conducted 
by the former for children and teens 
aged between six and 14.

English Dharma Course
The course, which commenced on 10 
April 2010, comprises 20 lessons that 
are held every fortnightly on Saturday 
evenings till 8 January 2011. Helmed 
by Venerable Kanugolle Rathanasara 
from Sri Lankaramaya Buddhist 
Temple, basic Buddhist principles are 
elucidated through the exploration of 
insightful topics such as “Why should 
you follow training precepts?” and 
“You can change your destiny”.

Sutra-Chanting Ceremonies
Weekly ceremonies are conducted 
via two consecutive sessions every 

Sunday in the multi-purpose hall of 
Metta Building. In addition, religious 
rituals are held to commemorate 
Buddhist festivals and the birth 
anniversaries of various Bodhisattvas.

Compassionate Endeavours
Organised once every few 
months, the releasing of lives is 
a compassionate activity that 
stems from the Buddhist tenets 
of benevolence and protection 
for all forms of life. To further our 
humanitarian cause, local and 
overseas voluntary missions are 
conducted to fulfil welfare goals and 
promote the spirit of giving.
 To inject vibrance and interaction 
into our programmes, festival 
celebrations are held to foster bonds 
and rapport among our devotees, 
course members and volunteers, 
whereas excursions and outings are 
organised for young Buddhists as a 
recreational yet educational form of 
engagement.

ACHIEVEMENTS
Under the leadership of Venerable 
Shi Pu En, the department enjoyed 

Between 12 and 19 December 2009, our team of 30 voluntary corps spread the wave of compassion beyond 

our shores in a relief mission to Yangon where they helped restore a monastic quarters. This was taken at 

the main hall of the monastery. 

2009ฤ12Ꮬ12྇ᒗ19྇ǈࠢ਒ᔝᒅශࢡ।ਪᒔ৔ቲᏒᅍǈᓍገࡵශࢡ၅࣒ዶ਒ࡼጙჅ࿃඲।ኧᏔ஠
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a year of strong growth, underlining 
the burgeoning popularity of our 
programme offerings that have 
strengthened in scope and depth. 
From dharma classes and talks to 
religious rituals and ceremonies, we 
have built a virtuous foundation upon 
which a wellspring of benevolence 
can flourish. Translating kindness 
into actions, our members not 
only engaged in local community 

outreach, but also spread the wave 
of compassion beyond our shores.  

Dharma Talks
Over the reviewed year, a wide range 
of Chinese and English dharma talks 
was conducted free of charge for the 
public. Apart from being nourished by 
the erudite insights of our esteemed 
speakers, our participants had the 
opportunity to engage the masters in 

open discussions.
 Comprising distinguished 
reverends from local and abroad, our 
panel of speakers included Venerables 
Seck Kwang Phing and Sik Chuan 
Guan from the Singapore Buddhist 
Federation, Abbot of Kuang Chee 
Tng Buddhist Temple Venerable Shi 
Ding Rong, as well as Venerables Shi 
Hui Shen and Shi Ci Lv from Taiwan. 
The former is the Abbot of Wu Jin 
Zhang Dharma Centre in Keelung City, 
Taiwan. English talks were presided by 
Venerable Kanugolle Rathanasara.

Releasing of Lives
The inaugural session was held on 17 
May 2009 in tandem with Vesak Day. 
Led by a group of venerables, 288 
devotees set off in a chartered bus 
from the Metta Building to Marina 
South Pier, where they boarded a ferry 
and sailed into the high seas to release 
lobsters, golden pompanos and 
red snappers. Months later, a similar 
ceremony was conducted at the 
same venue on 10 October. Due to 
popular demand, the third session was 
organised on 21 March 2010 in Pulau 
Tekong where 228 devotees released 

Our third releasing of lives ceremony on 21 March 2010 in Pulau Tekong saw 228 devotees freeing live 

crabs into mangrove swamps. 
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crabs into mangrove swamps.

Festive Celebrations
Adding bustle and memorable 
moments to our activity calendar 
were numerous lively celebrations, 
which not only offered ample 
opportunities for our members to 
network and bond with each other, 
but also to raise funds for our religious 
and educational causes.
 Our Mid-Autumn Festival 
celebration on 3 October 2009 paved 
for a night of revelry, as over 200 
participants immersed in the tradition 
of moon-gazing and feasting on 
mooncakes, while enjoying singing 
performances and entertaining 
competitions that saw contestants 
pitting their skills in mooncake eating 
and pomelo peeling.
 Reprising the merriment on 28 
February 2010 was our first Lunar New 
Year celebration that drew a 300-
strong turnout. Besides tucking into a 
sumptuous buffet prepared by over 
20 volunteers, they enjoyed a riveting 
lion dance performance. 
 The opening item saw two 
majestic-looking lions picking the 

greens at the entrance of Metta 
Building before progressing to the 
multi-purpose hall. The propitious 
routine continued to unfold in front of 
a magnificent statue of the Maitreya 
Buddha, as the lions adroitly formed 
the Chinese verse “May the Buddha’s 
light illuminate all sentient beings” 
using Mandarin oranges. 
 The guests then gathered to toss 
vegetarian yu sheng as a felicitous 
symbolisation of attaining new 
heights. They went on to revel in an 
entertaining line-up, among which a 
song dedication segment delivered 
by veteran singer Yu Ling and a 
rousing auction for two auspicious 
items helped us raise $3,300 and 
$7,576 respectively. The joyous 
occasion garnered over $13,000 at 
curtain call.
 In the months that followed, 
we celebrated Mothers’ Day on 

9 May 2010 and held our second 
Vesak Day Charity Dinner on 15 May 
2010. Graced by Venerable Shi Fa 
Zhao, the former featured a moving 
tribute to all mothers present in the 
300-member crowd, whereas the 
latter raised $47,000 for the new 
Metta PreSchool @Punggol with its 
heartwarming highlights.

Outreach Missions
Led by Venerables Shi Pu En and Shi 
Pu Kang, our team of 30 voluntary 
corps embarked on their maiden 
relief mission in Yangon from 12 to 19 
December 2009. Apart from assisting 
in the restoration of a Theravada 
monastic quarters, they distributed 
rations and daily necessities to needy 
children. They also found time to 
take in the beautiful sights of Inle 
Lake in Taunggyi, as they went on 
a pilgrimage to various Buddhist 

Our 353-strong Samaritan force including members from our children’s dharma class, spread warmth and 

cheer to the needy elderly residing in AWWA Community Home for Senior Citizens on 20 March 2010. 
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monasteries and pagodas, making 
oblations to native monks.
 Paying heed to the adage 
“Charity begins at home”, our 353-
strong Samaritan force including 
members from our children’s dharma 
class, spread cheer and warmth 
to elderly recipients in the AWWA 
Community Home for Senior Citizens 
on 20 March 2010.
 The purpose was to befriend its 
needy residents and offer them care 
and support. During lunch time, they 
distributed packed vegetarian meals, 
beverages and gifts to them, whereas 
the venerables gave away red 
packets. Enlivened and touched by 
the warm gesture, the beneficiaries 
beamed with joy as they shook 
hands and sang songs to show their 
gratitude.
 In appreciation of our Samaritans’ 
utmost dedication, a thanksgiving 
dinner was held before the Lunar New 
Year in 2010. 

Youth Trips 
Educational trips are organised for 
our young Buddhist members twice 
a year during the semestral holidays. 

Apart from connecting them to 
heritage and religion, these excursions 
helped broaden their horizons in a fun 
and engaging way.
 Scheduled to coincide with Hari 
Raya Haji, our excursion to the zoo 
on 27 November 2009 saw over 30 
students from our children’s dharma 
class – along with 20 parents and 
12 volunteers – having a field day 
acquainting various exotic wildlife.
 Under the guidance of our 
resident sanghas, 55 students, 15 
parents and 12 volunteer teachers 
went on a religious tour on 14 March 
2010. Selected based on their 
superlative qualities, the places of 
worship featured in our itinerary 
ranged from the oldest (Lian Shan 
Shuang Lin Monastery) to the biggest 
(Kong Meng San Phor Kark See 
Monastery) to the dignified (Buddha 
Tooth Relic Temple and Museum). The 
interesting trip imbued the children 
with sound knowledge about the 
history and development of these 
significant temples.
 On 30 May 2010, three voluntary 

teachers led 10 members from 
the children’s dharma class on an 
exploratory trip to Pulau Ubin. Offering 
a rare peek into kampong culture, 
the day’s worth of sightseeing and 
trekking proved to be a refreshing 
break for them during the school 
holidays.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
Besides augmenting the depth and 
breadth of our existing services, 
we seek to enhance our course 
offerings to children and youths so 
as to encourage their espousal of 
Buddhism. In the pipeline is the setting 
up of a liturgical class to acquaint 
them with the art of Buddhist music 
through singing of hymns and playing 
of religious instruments. A national 
hymn-singing contest will be held 
in tandem at the end of the year 
to promote the appreciation of 
Buddhist music. Lastly, a prayer group 
will be formed to conduct chanting 
ceremonies for our bereaved 
members and donors.

Over 30 students from our children’s dharma class had a field day acquainting various exotic wildlife during 

an excursion to the zoo on 27 November 2009.
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General Insurance Day 2009 – A Celebration of Hearts & Crafts at Metta School
3 October 2009, Metta School

To promote the educational and 
developmental needs of children 
with learning disorders, the General 
Insurance Association of Singapore 
(GIA) feted its annual General 
Insurance Day with an aesthetic 
showcase of our students’ talents 
in visual and performing arts. The 
occasion also featured performances 
by the young ones as well as GIA 
members and interns. Moved by the 
warm camaraderie, Guest-of-Honour 
Mr Low Kwok Mun, Executive Director 
of Insurance Supervision Department 
from the Monetary Authority of 
Singapore, lauded the Metta 
School and our students for their 
achievements in his extemporaneous 
speech. The event attracted over 
150 insurance practitioners from GIA 
member companies, most of whom 
contributed to brisk sales of ready-
made crafts produced by the Metta 
Alumni. GIA even pledged a $10,000 
donation to the Metta Welfare 
Association.
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Metta Charity Banquet
24 October 2009, Metta Building

The prudent move to conduct the 
yearly soiree in our home ground 
not only reduced overheads but 
also fostered a welcoming sense of 
familiarity and spirited bonhomie 
among the guests. Themed 
“Soaring to New Heights”, the event 
witnessed a series of rousing auctions 
for exquisite artworks crafted by 
our beneficiaries and volunteers, 
garnering over $72,000. Gastronomic 
levels were boosted by Tung Lok’s 
Lingzhi Vegetarian and the multi-
cultural line-up was accentuated by 
an eclectic medley delivered by a 
youth quintet using various traditional 
musical instruments. Graced by 
Guest-of-Honour Ms Jessica Tan, MP 
for East Coast GRC and Advisor to 
East Coast GRC GROs, the event 
raised more than $232,000 at curtain 
call.
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Metta Shine Night
21 November 2009, ITE College East

Heading into its sixth anniversary, 
the annual extravaganza was co-
hosted with the ITE College East for 
the fourth consecutive year. The 
highlight was a dazzling 40-minute 
assemblage of contemporary and 
traditional arts put up by 253 students 
from the Metta School. Marking the 
largest and liveliest musical staged 
by the school to date, “Together 
We Shine” portrayed scenes of our 
students rehearsing for a concert 
during the holidays. Stringing together 
some of its finest performing arts 
groups – including music and drama, 
percussion, wushu, handbell, Indian 
dance, choir and guitar – the show 
garnered positive reviews from the 
audience. Lending luminance was 
Guest-of-Honour Ms Jessica Tan, 
MP for East Coast GRC and Advisor 
to East Coast GRC GROs, whose 
presence personified the warm 
relations between Metta and the 
Changi Simei Constituency.
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Festive Shopping Galore 
for Metta Volunteers
31 January 2010, Islandwide

What better way is there to usher 
the Lunar New Year than to 
embark on a shopping spree for 
festive delicacies? Indulging in a 
day’s worth of nifty bargains, retail 
therapy worked its magic on our 
volunteers who were delighted 
by the vast selection available 
in factory outlets of renowned 
local manufacturers. They had 
a field day sampling assorted 
fare, hunting down great buys 
and reaping decent savings. The 
gratifying trip saw them revelling in 
their haul of goodies, including Tai 
Sun tidbits, Fragrance barbecued 
pork slices, Kwong Cheong Thye 
savoury recipe mixes and yu 
sheng, fresh seafood and greens 
from the Jurong Fishery Port and 
Farmart Centre.

Chinese New Year Lou Hei Buffet Luncheon
19 February 2010, Metta Building

Fusing cultural tradition and lively 
interaction for the fifth year running, 
the bustling event continued 
to regale our patrons with the 
atmospheric experience of a massive 
reunion. Held in appreciation of their 
ardent support, the luncheon began 
with a blessing ceremony presided by 
the Secretary-General of Singapore 
Buddhist Federation Venerable Seck 
Kwang Phing and Metta’s Executive 

Director Venerable Shi Pu En. The 
auspicious routine was followed 
by a felicitous line-up of treats that 
heightened the festive mood. Besides 
a pulsating performance delivered by 
the Metta School percussion troupe, 
tantalising heaps of vegetarian raw 
fish tossed amid exuberant cheers 
and a delectable buffet spread had 
the guests eating to their hearts’ 
content.
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Metta Charity Run
6 March 2010, East Coast Park

Adrenalin soared as some 1,000 
runners pounded the tracks in support 
of the inaugural Metta Charity Run, 
which comprised non-competitive 
races of 5km and 10km. Leading 
the 10km race was Guest-of-Honour 
Ms Jessica Tan, MP for East Coast 
GRCMP for East Coast GRC and 
Advisor to East Coast GRC GROs, 
who commented: “This has been an 
enjoyable and well-organised event. 
I notice that the participants have 
performed very well!” Symbolising 
the significance of journeying with 
the less fortunate, the occasion was 
right on track in getting the hearts 
and feet of the community moving in 
favour of a good cause. Garnering 
$32,000, the turnout among various 
races and age groups proved 
encouraging; counting among 
them representatives from the 
Singapore Pools, Trafigura, JPMorgan 
Chase Bank and General Insurance 
Association of Singapore.



Metta Events ࠢ਒૚ࣅ

73

Metta Charity Walk cum Family Carnival
6 June 2010, Metta School/Metta Building

Close to 450 grassroots members, 
corporate associates and 
beneficiaries participated in the 
Metta Charity Walk led by Guest-of-
Honour Ms Jessica Tan, MP for East 
Coast GRC MP for East Coast GRC 
and Advisor to East Coast GRC GROs. 
Drawn by the omnibus of treats, 
scores of visitors turned up bright and 
early to suss out fabulous bargains 
from over 80 retail and food stalls. 
Bestsellers included batik handicrafts 
made by the Metta Alumni, organic 
foodstuffs and vegetarian delicacies. 
Among the fringe highlights were a 
karaoke contest, game stalls ran by 
corporate volunteers from JPMorgan 
Chase Bank, as well as magic shows 
and balloon sculptures that enlivened 
the kids immensely. Igniting the 
exuberance of massive funfairs, the 
carnival is one of our main outreach 
events that aim to promote family 
and community ties through an all-
encompassing charitable theme.
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Keppel Offshore & Marine/Keppel Integrated Engineering-Metta Charity Golf 2010 
20 July 2010, Orchid Country Club

Our flagship fundraiser headed into its 
11th anniversary with Keppel Offshore 
& Marine and Keppel Integrated 
Engineering as the title sponsors. 
Their collective pledge of $100,000 
marked the largest corporate 
contribution to date. Most notably, 
CEO of Keppel Corporation Mr Choo 
Chiau Beng donated $40,000 in his 
personal capacity. In addition, the 
event garnered the support of 224 
big-hearted golfers, who further 
displayed their generosity during 
a spirited auction for three pottery 
and batik artworks crafted by the 
Metta Alumni. Among the items was 
a batik painting of four blooming lilies 
that sparked an intense bidding war 
after Guest-of-Honour Mr Tharman 
Shanmugaratnam, Minister for 
Finance, sportingly penned his English 
and Chinese signatures on it. Eliciting 
a whopping $22,888 bid, it helped 
propel the event to chart a record 
revenue of over $200,000.
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Arts@Metta Corporate Commissions 
Year-round, Islandwide

Retail sales and corporate 
commissions for batik and pottery 
artworks crafted by the Metta 
Alumni saw a sharp increase over 
the past year. Since the group was 
formed in August 2006, their artistry 
has flourished and gained much 
recognition through commissioned 
projects initiated by our corporate 
partners including UOB Private 
Banking, Singapore Pools, Raffles 
Town Club and General Insurance 
Association. Having established 
the distinctive lifestyle label Arts@
Metta which boasts a quality 
collection of handmade batik 
accessories and elegant pottery 
pieces, our youths have clearly 
progressed from amateur hobbyists 
to skilled artisans. Enabling them 
to continue their mastery of visual 
arts under a sheltered environment, 
our programmes seek to equip 
special needs youths with life skills 
that promote employment and 
independence.
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Operations Review
 
Donations Received for Financial Year 2009/10

54.08% Metta Headquarters

3.01% Metta Day Activity Centre 
 for the Intellectually Disabled

4.71% Metta Home for the Disabled 
 & Metta Day Activity Centre

3.32% Metta Day Rehabilitation Centre 
 for the Elderly

4.17% Metta Hospice Care

3.25% Metta Student Care Centre

27.46% Metta Preschool

Total Number Of Clients In Our Centres Daily
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Key Ratios

Reserves: Operating Expenses

Reserves (General Fund) : $2,120,570  
Annual Expenses : $7,597,859  
Ratio : 0.28 (3.4 mths)

Reserves (Total) : $5,658,283  
Annual Expenses : $7,597,859  
Ratio : 0.74 (9.0 mths)

Fund Raising Expenses : Fundraising Income
(Consolidated Year Ended 31 March 2010)

Fundraising Expenses + Overheads (100%) : $468,580 
Fundraising Income + Donations : $1,857,237 
Ratio : 25%

Conflict of Interest Policies

All Executive Committee members, Chairmen of Sub-Committees and senior staff members of Metta Welfare Association 
are required to read and understand the conflict of interest policy in place and make full disclosure of interests, 
relationships and holdings that could potentially result in a conflict of interest. When a conflict of interest situation arises, 
the member/staff shall abstain from participating in the discussion, decision making and voting on the matter.

Reserves Policy

The maximum operating reserves shall be 5 years of annual operating expenditure, with annual operating expenditure 
being 5 times the highest annual expenditure over the last 3 years. Operating reserves exclude all building/project funds, 
endowment and sinking funds.
 
Remuneration of the Management Committee

No member of the Management Committee has received any form of remuneration for his service rendered as a 
Management Committee member.
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Governance Evaluation Checklist (For Large IPCs)
For Period from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

 S/No. Code Description Code ID
 Compliance  

  Level

  BOARD GOVERNANCE  
 
  Board Roles, Composition and Bye-laws  

 1 The Board is wholly independent from the paid executive management 1.1.2a Complied
  of the charity. Where paid staff are on the Board, they comprise not 
  more than one-third of the Board

 2 Paid staff does not chair the Board 1.1.2b Complied

 3 There is a maximum term limit of four consecutive years for the Treasurer 1.1.6 Complied
  (or equivalent) position 

 4 The Board conducts self-evaluation to assess its performance and 1.1.10 Complied 
  effectiveness 

  Board Structure  

 5 There are Board committees (or designated Board members) with 1.2.1 Complied
  documented terms of reference in place to oversee the following areas, 
  where appropriate:
  a.  Audit;
  b.  Programmes and Services;
  c.  Fund-raising; (Applicable to IPCs & Large Charities)
  d.  Appointment/Nomination; (Applicable to IPCs & Large Charities)
  e.  Human Resource; (Applicable to IPCs & Large Charities) and
  f.  Investment. (Applicable to Large IPCs) 

  Board Meetings  

 6 The Board meets regularly (or as required by the governing document) 1.3.2 Complied
    

  STRATEGIC PLANNING  
 
  Vision & Mission  

 7 The Board periodically approves and reviews the vision and mission of 2.1.1 Complied
  the charity. They are documented and communicated to the public 
  or its members  
  
  Operations Plan  

 8 The Board regularly approves and reviews a strategic/work plan for the 2.2.2 Complied
  charity to ensure that the activities are aligned to the charitable 
  objectives
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S/No. Code Description Code ID
 Compliance  

  Level

  CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  
 
  Related Party Transaction  

 9 There are documented procedures for Board members or paid staff to 3.1.1 Complied
  declare conflicts of interest to the Board
 
 10 Board members with conflicts of interest do not vote or participate in 3.1.2 Complied
  decision making in the matter

  HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
  
  Staff & Volunteers  

 11 There are documented human resource policies approved by the  5.1.1 Complied
  Board for paid staff (and volunteers, where appropriate) 

 12 There are systems for regular supervision, appraisal and personal 5.1.5 Complied
  development of the executives head, paid staff (and volunteers, 
  where appropriate).

 13 No paid staff or Board member (where applicable) is involved in setting 5.1.6 Complied
  his own remuneration. 

 14 There is a system to address grievances and resolve conflicts for staff 5.1.11 Complied
  and volunteers

  FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT & CONTROLS
  
  Budget Planning & Monitoring  

 15 The Board approves an annual budget for the charity’s corporate and 6.1.1 Complied
  programme plans and monitors its budget expenditure regularly.

  Operational Controls  

 16 The Board ensures periodic internal audit on controls, processes, key 6.2.2 Complied
  programmes and events

 17 The Charity ensures internal control systems are in place with 6.2.3 Complied
  documented procedures, approved by the Board, for financial matters

  Asset Management  

 18 The Charity discloses its reserves policy in the annual report 6.3.1 Complied
  
 19 The Charity invests its reserves, if the governing document permits, in 6.3.5 Complied
  accordance with an investment policy approved by the Board. It 
  obtains advice from qualified professional advisors, where appropriate. 
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S/No. Code Description Code ID
 Compliance  

  Level

  DISCLOSURE & TRANSPARENCY  

 20 The charity makes available to its stakeholders an annual report 8.1.1 Complied
  (Financial accounts are tabled at the Annual General Meeting, if 
  required by the governing document). 

 21 Board members are not remunerated for their Board Services 8.1.2a Complied
  
 22 The Charity discloses the exact remuneration and benefits received by 8.1.2b Complied
  each individual Board member in the annual report

 23 The Charity discloses annual remuneration of the top three key 8.1.3 Complied
  executives in salary bands of less than $100,000 and subsequent bands 
  of $50,000 in the annual report

  PUBLIC RELATIONS & CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS  

 24 The Charity communicates its mission, programmes  9.1.1 Complied
  or activities to key stakeholders
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Non-Financial Information
 
Charity Status
The Metta Welfare Association was set up as a society with the Registry of Societies (ROS) on 13 July 1994. It was 
registered as a charity under the Charities Act on 9 March 1995.
 
Charity Registration Number: 01082
ROS Registration Number: 0285/1993WEL
Unique Entity Number: S94SS0081K

Institution of a Public Character (IPC)/Central Fund Status

Effective Date: 2 May 2010
IPC Reference No.: S94SS0081K
Member of Central Fund: NCSS Charitable Fund

Operational Details (as at 31 March 2010)
Number of Beneficiaries: 939
Number of Staff: 223

Registered Address

32 Simei Street 1
Metta Building
Singapore 529950
 
Executive Management Committee (Charity Trustees)
Ven Shi Fa Zhao - President
Ven Shi Pu Rui - First Vice President
Tan Ming Yong - Second Vice President
Tan Yen Kee - Honorary Secretary
Khua Kian Kheng, Ivan - Assistant Honorary Secretary
Woo Khai San, Victor - Honorary Treasurer
Lim Yew Si - Assistant Honorary Treasurer
Helen Tan - Committee Member
Lim Chin  - Committee Member
Ngiam Kee Yuan - Committee Member
Poh Yong Meng, Stephen - Committee Member
Tan Wui Khiang, Kevin - Committee Member
Tay Khin Sian, Anthony - Committee Member
Tsang Siu For, Thomas - Committee Member
Yeong Wai Chee, Raymond - Committee Member 

Auditor

Helmi Talib & Co
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Statement By The Management Committee 

We, being two of the undersigned Management Committee of Metta 
Welfare Association do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Management 
Committee, the statement of financial position, statement of financial activities, 
statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows are properly drawn 
up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Association 
as at 31 March 2010 and the results, changes in funds and cash flows of the 
Association for the financial year ended on that date.

On behalf of the Management Committee

Ven. Shi Fa Zhao Woo Khai San Victor
President Honorary Treasurer

12 August 2010
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To The Management Committee Of Metta Welfare Association
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of METTA WELFARE ASSOCIATION (“the Association”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2010, and the statement of financial activities, statement 
of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management Committee’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Association’s Management Committee is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act (Chapter 311), Charities Act (Chapter 37) and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: 
(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that 

assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised 
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair statement of financial activities 
and statement of financial position and to maintain accountability of assets;

(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.
 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Association’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Association’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Management 
Committee, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act 
(Chapter 311), Charities Act (Chapter 37) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and so as to give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of Metta Welfare Association as at 31 March 2010 and of the results and changes in financial 
position of the Association for the financial year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  
During the course of our audit, nothing came to our notice that caused us to believe that the fund raising expenses have 
exceeded 30% of the total gross receipts from fund raising during the financial year.

Helmi Talib & Co
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
12 August 2010
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Statement Of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2010 

   Note 2010 2009
ASSETS  $ $

Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment 5 14,415,548 14,005,648
Investment securities - held to maturity 6 200,000 450,000
Fixed deposits 7 180,000 180,000
Total non-current assets  14,795,548 14,635,648

Current assets      
Inventories 8 9,802 11,022
Trade and other receivables 9 527,768 446,253
Investment securities - held to maturity 6 250,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents 10 4,929,680 3,512,015
Total current assets  5,717,250 3,969,290

TOTAL ASSETS  20,512,798 18,604,938
       
LIABILITIES      

Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables 11 1,207,055 809,286
Deferred capital grant 12 395,075 395,877   
Total current liabilities  1,602,130 1,205,163
       
Non-current liabilities      
Deferred capital grant 12 13,333,353 13,217,140
Total non-current liabilities  13,333,353 13,217,140

TOTAL LIABILITIES  14,935,483 14,422,303
       
FUNDS      

Unrestricted Funds      
General Fund  2,040,602 1,250,936
Investment Fund  1,006,033 797,680
Project Account Reserve  1,187,647 1,187,647
Sinking Fund  336,167 299,596
Designated Funds  301,687 295,716
    4,872,136 3,831,575
       
Restricted Funds      
Education Trust Fund  351,060 351,060
Building Fund  354,119 -
    705,179 351,060
TOTAL FUNDS 13 5,577,315 4,182,635
       
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUNDS  20,512,798 18,604,938

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement Of Financial Activities
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

2010       Unrestricted Funds        Restricted Funds  Total
 

General Investment
 Project 

Sinking
         Subtotal for 

Education Building
 Subtotal for 

 
Fund Fund

 Account 
Fund

    Designated  Funds    Unrestricted 
Trust Fund Fund

 Restricted
   Fund          Funds   Funds
     Student Metta Reserve for Client Reserve for Reserve for  Subtotal for
     Welfare School Client Welfare Equipment Medicine HIV Fund Designated
     Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund  Funds   
INCOME $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
                     
Voluntary income                 
Amortisation of capital grant 396,663 - - - - - - - - - - - 396,663 - - - 396,663
Designated donation 51,204 - - - 136,941 124 4,595 5,012 13,500 347 18,000 178,519 229,723 - 372,500 372,500 602,223
Donation - Non Tax Exempt 270,049 - - - - - - - - - - - 270,049 - - - 270,049
Donation - Tax Exempt 611,137 - - - - - - - - - - - 611,137 - - - 611,137
Government grant subsidy 3,459,854 - - - - - - - - - - - 3,459,854 - 165,433 165,433 3,625,287
Membership subscription 444 - - - - - - - - - - - 444 - - - 444
NCSS grant 761,134 - - - - - - - - - - - 761,134 - - - 761,134
   5,550,485 - - - 136,941 124 4,595 5,012 13,500 347 18,000 178,519 5,729,004 - 537,933 537,933 6,266,937
                    
Funds generating activities                  
Events and activity income 809,442 - - - - - - - - - - - 809,442 - - - 809,442
Fundraising income 947,695 - - - - - - - - - - - 947,695 - - - 947,695
   1,757,137 - - - - - - - - - - - 1,757,137 - - - 1,757,137

Charitable income                  
Fees received 977,833 - - - - - - - - - - - 977,833 - - - 977,833

Interest income                   
Interest received 12,607 - - - - - - - - - - - 12,607 - - - 12,607
                   
Other income                   
Sundry income 163,046 - - - - - - - - - - - 163,046 - - - 163,046
                   
TOTAL INCOME 8,461,108 - - - 136,941 124 4,595 5,012 13,500 347 18,000 178,519 8,639,627 - 537,933 537,933 9,177,560

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement Of Financial Activities
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

2010       Unrestricted Funds        Restricted Funds  Total
 

General Investment
 Project 

Sinking
         Subtotal for 

Education Building
 Subtotal for 

 
Fund Fund

 Account 
Fund

    Designated  Funds    Unrestricted 
Trust Fund Fund

 Restricted
   Fund          Funds   Funds
     Student Metta Reserve for Client Reserve for Reserve for  Subtotal for
     Welfare School Client Welfare Equipment Medicine HIV Fund Designated
     Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund  Funds   
EXPENSES $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
                     
Cost of generating voluntary income                
Designated donation expenses 35,272 - - - 156,403 - 4,180 1,424 4,646 895 5,000 172,548 207,820 - 183,814 183,814 391,634

Cost of fund generating activities

Cost of goods sold 19,236 - - - - - - - - - - - 19,236 - - - 19,236
Events/ activity expenses 296,267 - - - - - - - - - - - 296,267 - - - 296,267
Fundraising expenses 204,000 - - - - - - - - - - - 204,000 - - - 204,000
   519,503 - - - - - - - - - - - 519,503 - - - 519,503
                   
Cost of charitable activities                 
Depreciation of property, plant   504,266 - - - - - - - - - - - 504,266 - - - 504,266
and equipment
General expenses 40,130 - - - - - - - - - - - 40,130 - - - 40,130
Licence/ subscription 4,482 - - - - - - - - - - - 4,482 - - - 4,482
Maintenance of office equipment 33,919 - - - - - - - - - - - 33,919 - - - 33,919
Meals and refreshment 97,173 - - - - - - - - - - - 97,173 - - - 97,173
Medical and physical equipment aid 33,427 - - - - - - - - - - - 33,427 - - - 33,427
Outing and activities 4,163 - - - - - - - - - - - 4,163 - - - 4,163
Public education expenses 13,252 - - - - - - - - - - - 13,252 - - - 13,252
Printing, stationery and postages 41,790 - - - - - - - - - - - 41,790 - - - 41,790
Rental of office equipment 31,151 - - - - - - - - - - - 31,151 - - - 31,151
Rental of premises 951,809 - - - - - - - - - - - 951,809 - - - 951,809
Repair and maintenance 121,954 - - - - - - - - - - - 121,954 - - - 121,954
Staff CPF and SDF 472,061 - - - - - - - - - - - 472,061 - - - 472,061
Staff medical 41,493 - - - - - - - - - - - 41,493 - - - 41,493
Staff salaries and bonuses 3,586,299 - - - - - - - - - - - 3,586,299 - - - 3,586,299
Staff transport 4,434 - - - - - - - - - - - 4,434 - - - 4,434
Staff welfare and training 82,366 - - - - - - - - - - - 82,366 - - - 82,366
Teaching and training materials 11,742 - - - - - - - - - - - 11,742 - - - 11,742
Telecommunication 55,499 - - - - - - - - - - - 55,499 - - - 55,499
Transportation 79,337 - - - - - - - - - - - 79,337 - - - 79,337
Upkeep of motor vehicles 76,683 - - - - - - - - - - - 76,683 - - - 76,683
Utensils 1,983 - - - - - - - - - - - 1,983 - - - 1,983
Utilities 300,000 - - - - - - - - - - - 300,000 - - - 300,000
   6,589,413 - - - - - - - - - - - 6,589,413 - - - 6,589,413

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement Of Financial Activities
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

2010       Unrestricted Funds        Restricted Funds  Total
 

General Investment
 Project 

Sinking
         Subtotal for 

Education Building
 Subtotal for 

 
Fund Fund

 Account 
Fund

    Designated  Funds    Unrestricted 
Trust Fund Fund

 Restricted
   Fund          Funds   Funds
     Student Metta Reserve for Client Reserve for Reserve for  Subtotal for
     Welfare School Client Welfare Equipment Medicine HIV Fund Designated
     Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund  Funds   
EXPENSES $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
                     
Administrative expenses                  

Audit fee 19,576 - - - - - - - - - - - 19,576 - - - 19,576
Bank charges 2,219 - - - - - - - - - - - 2,219 - - - 2,219
Property, plant and equipment 24,947 - - 1,207 - - - - - - - - 26,154 - - - 26,154
expensed
Insurance 6,919 - - - - - - - - - - - 6,919 - - - 6,919
Loss on disposal of property, plant - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
and equipment
Newspaper/periodical 1,220 - - - - - - - - - - - 1,220 - - - 1,220
Notice/recruitment expenses 4,733 - - - - - - - - - - - 4,733 - - - 4,733
Professional fees 221,509 - - - - - - - - - - - 221,509 - - - 221,509 
   281,123 - - 1,207 - - - - - - - - 282,330 - - - 282,330

TOTAL EXPENSES 7,425,311 - - 1,207 156,403 - 4,180 1,424 4,646 895 5,000 172,548 7,599,066 - 183,814 183,814 7,782,880

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 1,035,797 - - (1,207) (19,462) 124 415 3,588 8,854 (548) 13,000 5,971 1,040,561 - 354,119 354,119 1,394,680

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement Of Financial Activities
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

2009       Unrestricted Funds        Restricted Funds  Total
 

General Investment
 Project 

Sinking
         Subtotal for 

Education Building
 Subtotal for 

 
Fund Fund

 Account 
Fund

    Designated  Funds    Unrestricted 
Trust Fund Fund

 Restricted
   Fund          Funds   Funds
     Student Metta Reserve for Client Reserve for Reserve for  Subtotal for
     Welfare School Client Welfare Equipment Medicine HIV Fund Designated
     Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund  Funds   
INCOME $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
                     
Voluntary income                 
Amortisation of capital grant 421,505 - - - - - - - - - - - 421,505 - - - 421,505
Designated donation 68,143 - - - 29,103 - 5,607 438 - 1,469 - 36,617 104,760 203,354 - 203,354 308,114
Donation - Non Tax Exempt 244,828 - - - - - - - - - - - 244,828 - - - 244,828
Donation - Tax Exempt 503,797 - - - - - - - - - - - 503,797 - - - 503,797
Government grant subsidy 2,996,017 - - - - - - - - - - - 2,996,017 - - - 2,996,017
Membership subscription 504 - - - - - - - - - - - 504 - - - 504
NCSS grant 255,071 - - - - - - - - - - - 255,071 - - - 255,071
   4,489,865 - - - 29,103 - 5,607 438 - 1,469 - 36,617 4,526,482 203,354 - 203,354 4,729,836
 
Funds generating activities                  
Events and activity income 501,228 - - - - - - - - - - - 501,228 - - - 501,228
Fundraising income 831,363 - - - - - - - - - - - 831,363 - - - 831,363
   1,332,591 - - - - - - - - - - - 1,332,591 - - - 1,332,591

Charitable income                  
Fees received 1,075,795 - - - - - - - - - - - 1,075,795 - - - 1,075,795

Interest income                   
Interest received 20,172 - - - - 1,136 - - - - - 1,136 21,308 - - - 21,308
                   
Other income                   
Sundry income 120,036 - - - - - - - - - - - 120,036 - - - 120,036
                   
TOTAL INCOME 7,038,459 - - - 29,103 1,136 5,607 438 - 1,469 - 37,753 7,076,212 203,354 - 203,354 7,279,566

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement Of Financial Activities
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

2009       Unrestricted Funds        Restricted Funds  Total
 

General Investment
 Project 

Sinking
         Subtotal for 

Education Building
 Subtotal for 

 
Fund Fund

 Account 
Fund

    Designated  Funds    Unrestricted 
Trust Fund Fund

 Restricted
   Fund          Funds   Funds
     Student Metta Reserve for Client Reserve for Reserve for  Subtotal for
     Welfare School Client Welfare Equipment Medicine HIV Fund Designated
     Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund  Funds   
EXPENSES $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
                     
Cost of generating voluntary income                
Designated donation expenses 31,556 - - - 102,193 - 14,986 659 1,385 740 - 119,963 151,519 40,567 - 40,567 192,086

Cost of fund generating activities

Cost of goods sold 18,796 - - - - - - - - - - - 18,796 - - - 18,796
Events/ activity expenses 239,737 - - - - - - - - - - - 239,737 - - - 239,737
Fundraising expenses 96,447 - - - - - - - - - - - 96,447 - - - 96,447
   354,980 - - - - - - - - - - - 354,980 - - - 354,980
                    
Cost of charitable activities                 
Depreciation of property, plant 531,324 - - - - - - - - - - - 531,324 - - - 531,324
and equipment
General expenses 21,745 - - - - - - - - - - - 21,745 - - - 21,745
Licence/ subscription 3,746 - - - - - - - - - - - 3,746 - - - 3,746
Maintenance of office equipment - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Meals and refreshment 114,632 - - - - - - - - - - - 114,632 - - - 114,632
Medical and physical equipment aid 17,652 - - - - - - - - - - - 17,652 - - - 17,652
Outing and activities 5,786 - - - - - - - - - - - 5,786 - - - 5,786
Public education expenses 36,436 - - - - - - - - - - - 36,436 - - - 36,436
Printing, stationery and postages 53,381 - - - - - - - - - - - 53,381 - - - 53,381
Rental of office equipment 30,232 - - - - - - - - - - - 30,232 - - - 30,232
Rental of premises 1,138,566 - - - - - - - - - - - 1,138,566 - - - 1,138,566
Repair and maintenance 140,786 - - 27,151 - - - - - - - - 167,937 - - - 167,937
Staff CPF & SDF 450,575 - - - - - - - - - - - 450,575 - - - 450,575
Staff medical  36,942 - - - - - - - - - - - 36,942 - - - 36,942
Staff salaries and bonuses 3,270,363 - - - - - - - - - - - 3,270,363 - - - 3,270,363
Staff transport 3,447 - - - - - - - - - - - 3,447 - - - 3,447
Staff welfare and training 96,654 - - - - - - - - - - - 96,654 - - - 96,654
Teaching and training materials 14,512 - - - - - - - - - - - 14,512 - - - 14,512
Telecommunication 47,841 - - - - - - - - - - - 47,841 - - - 47,841
Transportation 82,306 - - - - - - - - - - - 82,306 - - - 82,306
Upkeep of motor vehicles 85,580 - - - - - - - - - - - 85,580 - - - 85,580
Utensils 3,061 - - - - - - - - - - - 3,061 - - - 3,061
Utilities 336,434 - - - - - - - - - - - 336,434 - - - 336,434
   6,522,001 - - 27,151 - - - - - - - - 6,549,152 - - - 6,549,152

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement Of Financial Activities
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

2009       Unrestricted Funds        Restricted Funds  Total
 

General Investment
 Project 

Sinking
         Subtotal for 

Education Building
 Subtotal for 

 
Fund Fund

 Account 
Fund

    Designated  Funds    Unrestricted 
Trust Fund Fund

 Restricted
   Fund          Funds   Funds
     Student Metta Reserve for Client Reserve for Reserve for  Subtotal for
     Welfare School Client Welfare Equipment Medicine HIV Fund Designated
     Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund  Funds   
EXPENSES $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
                     
Administrative expenses                  

Audit fee 13,932 - - - - - - - - - - - 13,932 - - - 13,932
Bank charges 12,379 - - - - - - - - - - - 12,379 - - - 12,379
Property, plant and equipment 14,264 - - - - - - - - - - - 14,264 - - - 14,264
expensed
Insurance 7,324 - - - - - - - - - - - 7,324 - - - 7,324
Loss on disposal of property, plant 13,974 - - - - - - - - - - - 13,974 - - - 13,974
and equipment
Newspaper/periodicals 1,531 - - - - - - - - - - - 1,531 - - - 1,531
Notice/recruitment expenses 4,202 - - - - - - - - - - - 4,202 - - - 4,202
Professional fee 176,718 - - - - - - - - - - - 176,718 - - - 176,718
   244,324 - - - - - - - - - - - 244,324 - - - 244,324

TOTAL EXPENSES 7,152,861 - - 27,151 102,193 - 14,986 659 1,385 740 - 119,963 7,299,975 40,567 - 40,567 7,340,542

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR (114,402) - - (27,151) (73,090) 1,136 (9,379) (221) (1,385) 729 - (82,210) (223,763) 162,787 - 162,787 (60,976)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement Of Changes In Funds
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

   Note Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total Funds
    $ $ $

As at 1 April 2008   4,055,338   188,273  4,243,611

(Deficit)/Surplus for the financial year   (223,763)  162,787  (60,976)
       
As at 31 March 2009 13  3,831,575   351,060  4,182,635

Surplus for the financial year  1,040,561   354,119  1,394,680
      
As at 31 March 2010 13  4,872,136   705,179  5,577,315

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

   Note 2010 2009
    $ $

Cash flows from operating activities      

Surplus/(Deficit) for the financial year  1,394,680 (60,976)

Adjustments for:      
Amortisation of Deferred Capital Grants  (396,663) (421,505)
Interest income received  (12,607) (21,308)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  504,266 531,324
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  - 13,974
Operating cash flows before working   1,489,676 41,509
capital changes

Decrease in inventories  1,220 3,167
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables  (81,515) 121,221
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables  397,769 (13,813)
Net cash flows from operating activities  1,807,150 152,084

Cash flows from investing activities

Grants received   512,074 62,014
Interest income received   12,607 21,308
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (914,166) (167,065)
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (389,485) (83,743)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,417,665 68,341
Cash and cash equivalents at the   3,512,015 3,443,674
beginning of the financial year      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 10 4,929,680 3,512,015
OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Notes To The Financial Statements  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1 GENERAL
 
 The Metta Welfare Association (“the Association”) is registered and operates in the Republic of Singapore. The 

registered office and principal place of operation of the Association is located at 32 Simei Street 1, Singapore 529950.
  The Association is set up to provide model medical care and community welfare services at their centres so that 

their beneficiaries can lead happy, independent, dignified and fulfilling lives. The Association is an approved charity 
under Charities Act, Cap. 37 and has been accorded the status of an Institution of Public Character (“IPC”) for the 
period from 2 May 2005 to 1 May 2010. The Charity registration number is 01082.

  The financial statements of the Association for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 were authorised for issue 
in accordance with a resolution of the Management Committee on 12 August 2010.

2 MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
 
 For the financial year under review, the members of the Management Committee were as follows:
  Ven Shi Fa Zhao - President
  Ven Shi Pu Rui - First Vice President
  Tan Ming Yong - Second Vice President
  Tan Yen Kee - Honorary Secretary
  Khua Kian Kheng, Ivan - Assistant Honorary Secretary
  Woo Khai San, Victor - Honorary Treasurer
  Lim Yew Si - Assistant Honorary Treasurer
  Helen Tan - Committee Member
  Lim Chin  - Committee Member
  Ngiam Kee Yuan - Committee Member
  Poh Yong Meng, Stephen - Committee Member
  Tan Wui Khiang, Kevin - Committee Member
  Tay Khin Sian, Anthony - Committee Member
  Tsang Siu For, Thomas - Committee Member
  Yeong Wai Chee, Raymond - Committee Member

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3.1 Basis of preparation 

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act, (Chapter 
311), Charities Act, (Chapter 37), Recommended Accounting Practice 6 and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (“FRS”).

  The Association has applied RAP 6 for the presentation of the Statement of Financial Activities which differs 
from FRS 1 presentation of Statement of Comprehensive Income.

  The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below.

  The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. All these judgements, estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may ultimately 
differ from those estimates.

  The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in 
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

  The significant accounting policy that requires management’s judgement in its application that has the most 
significant effect on the financial statements is in respect of management’s decision on the estimated useful lives 
of property, plant and equipment which is disclosed in Note 3.5.

  The financial statements are expressed in Singapore Dollars (“SGD or S$”).
  The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Association and are consistent with those used 

in the previous financial year.
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3.2 Changes in accounting policies

 On 1 April 2009, the Association adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) that are 
mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the Association’s accounting policies have been made as 
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

  The following are the new or revised FRS and INT FRS that are relevant to the Association:
 • FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised presentation
  The revised standard requires an entity to present, in a statement of changes in funds, all owner changes 

in funds. All non-owner changes in funds (i.e. comprehensive income) are required to be presented in one 
statement of comprehensive income or in two statements (a separate income statement and a statement 
of comprehensive income). Components of comprehensive income are not permitted to be presented in 
the statement of changes in funds. In addition, a statement of financial position is required at the beginning 
of the earliest comparative period following a change in accounting policy, the correction of an error or the 
reclassification of items in the financial statements. FRS 1 (revised 2008) does not have any impact on the 
Association’s financial position or results.

 • Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
  The amendment requires enhanced disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. In particular, 

the amendment requires the disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a fair value measurement 
hierarchy. The adoption of the amendment results in additional disclosures but does not have an impact on the 
accounting policies and measurement bases adopted by the Association.

3.3 New or revised accounting standards and interpretations

 The Association has not earlier adopted certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing 
standards which have been published and are mandatory for the Association’s accounting policies beginning 1 
April 2010 or later periods.

  The management expects that the adoption of the new or revised accounting standards and interpretations 
will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application.

 
3.4 Functional currency

 The management has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Association 
operates i.e. functional currency, to be SGD. Donation received, sales prices and major costs of providing goods 
and services including major operating expenses are primarily influenced by fluctuations in SGD.

3.5 Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment. The costs 
of property, plant and equipment initially recognised include its purchase price and any directly attributable costs 
of bringing the property, plant and equipment to working condition for its intended use. Subsequent expenditure 
relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to the carrying amount 
of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Association and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance expenses are 
recognised in the statement of financial activities when incurred. 

  Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:
  Building 50 years
  Furniture and equipment 5 years
  Computers 3 years
  Physio/medical equipment 5 years
  Motor vehicles 5 years 
  Renovation 15 years
  Alarm and security system 5 years
  Renovation work in progress is stated at cost. Expenditure relating to renovation (including interest expense) 

are capitalised when incurred. Depreciation will commence when the renovation is completed.
  The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
  The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year end to ensure 

that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected 
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of fixed assets.

  An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in the statement of 
financial activities in the year the property, plant and equipment is derecognised.
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3.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The carrying amounts of the Association’s assets are reviewed at each statement of financial position date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. All impairment losses are recognised in the statement of financial activities whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

  An impairment loss is only revised to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss has been 
recognised. All reversals of impairment are recognised in the statement of financial activities.

3.7 Inventories

 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. A write down on cost is made for where the cost 
is not recoverable or if the selling price has declined. Cost includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and 
other cost incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

3.8 Financial assets
 
 Loans and receivables
 Financial assets are recognised on the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Association 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
  When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus transaction costs.
  All regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e. the 

date that the Association commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases 
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace concerned.

  Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market 
are classified as loans and receivables. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less impairment losses. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of financial activities when the 
loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

  The Association classifies the following financial assets as loans and receivables:
  - cash and cash equivalents
  - trade and other receivables
  - fixed deposits
 Held to Maturity Investments
 Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when 

the Association has the positive intention and ability to hold the investment to maturity. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of financial activities when the held-to-maturity investments are 
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

3.9 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances. Cash carried in the statement of financial position 
is classified and accounted for as loans and receivables under FRS 39.
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3.10 Impairment of financial assets

 The Association assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is any objective evidence that 
a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

  If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount 
of the loss is recognised in the statement of financial activities.

  When the financial asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial asset is reduced 
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance amount, the amounts charged to the allowance account 
are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset.

  To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial asset has been 
incurred, the Association considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. 

  If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of financial activities, to 
the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

3.11 Derecognition of financial assets

 A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.
  On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the 

sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is 
recognised in the statement of financial activities.

 
3.12 Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities include trade and other payables, which are normally settled on 30-90 days terms and payables 
to related parties. Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Association 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are initially recognised 
at fair value of consideration received less attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

  Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of financial activities when the liabilities are derecognised 
and through the amortisation process. The liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or expired.

3.13 Funds
 
 Fund balances restricted by outside sources are so indicated and are distinguished from unrestricted funds 

allocated to specific purposes if any by action of the management. Externally restricted funds may only be utilised 
in accordance with the purposes established by the source of such funds and are in contrast with unrestricted 
funds over which management retains full control to use in achieving any of its institutional purposes.

3.14 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Association has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event where it is probable that it will result in an outflow of economic benefits to settle the obligation and the 
amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

  Provisions are reviewed at each statement of financial position date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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3.15 Operating leases

 Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risk and benefits of ownership of the lease term, are 
classified as operating leases.

  Operating lease payments are charged to the statement of financial activities on a straight line basis over the 
period of the lease.

  When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be 
made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

3.16 Employee benefits

 (a)	 Defined	contribution	plan
  As required by law, the Association makes contributions to the state pension scheme, the Central Provident 

Fund (“CPF”). CPF contributions are recognised as compensation expenses in the same period as the 
employment that gives rise to the contribution.

 (b) Employee leave entitlement
  Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they are accrued to employees. 

3.17 Incoming resources recognition

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Association and 
the revenue can be reliably measured. 

 (a) Donations and corporate sponsorship
  Revenue from donations of individuals and corporate sponsorship are accounted for when received, except 

for committed donations and corporate cash sponsorship that are recorded when the commitments are signed.
 (b) Fees
  Revenue received from fees is recognised on an accrual basis.
 (c) Sale of items
  Revenue from sale of items is recognised when the items have been delivered to the customers and the 

customers have accepted the items and collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably assured.
 (d) Interest income and investment income
  Interest income on bank accounts, fixed deposits placed with banks and bonds are recognised on a time 

proportion basis using the effective interest method. 

3.18 Resources expended

 All expenditures are accounted for on accrual basis, aggregated under the respective areas. Direct costs are 
attributed to the activity where possible. Where costs cannot be wholly attributable to an activity, they are 
apportioned on a basis consistent with the use of resources. 

 
 (a) Allocation of HQ costs
  HQ costs comprise staff costs relating to general management, human resource and administration, finance 

and IT costs which have been allocated to charitable activities on a fair basis. 
 (b) Cost of generating funds from fund-raising activities 
  These costs are directly attributable to the fund-raising activities, separate from those costs incurred in undertaking 

charitable activities. These costs are fully met by contributions in the form of cash sponsorship and grants. 
 (c) Charitable activities
  Costs of charitable activities comprise all costs incurred in the pursuit of the charitable objects of the Association. 

The total costs of charitable expenditure include an apportionment of overhead and shared costs. 

3.19 Grants

 A grant is recognised at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that conditions attaching to it will be 
complied with and that the grant will be received. Grants and government subvention receipts in recognition 
of specific expenses are recognised as income to match them with the related costs that they are intended to 
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the 
statement of financial position and is amortised to the statement of financial activities over the expected useful life 
of the relevant assets by annual amount installments.
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4 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

 A related party includes the trustees/office bearers and key management of the Association. It also includes an 
entity or person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common or joint control with these 
persons. It also includes members of the key management personnel or close members of the family of any 
individual referred to herein and others who have the ability to control, jointly control or significantly influence 
by or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any such individual. Key 
management personnel include the executive director, deputy executive director and the direct reporting senior 
officers. 

  It is not the normal practice for the trustees/office bearers, or people connected with them, to receive 
remuneration, or other benefits, from the Association for which they are responsible, or from institutions connected 
with the Association.

	 (a)	 Significant	related	party	transactions

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Metta School
  Expenses billed to Metta School (5,730) (14,922)
  Expenses billed from Metta School 95,880 19,075
  
  During the financial year, the Association charged expenses amounting to $5,730 (2009: $14,922) to Metta 

School and was charged expenses amounting to $95,880 (2009: $19,075) by Metta School. As at 31 March 
2010, the Association has receivable of $360 (2009: $5,056) from and payable of $47,613 (2009: $72,396) to 
Metta School.

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Happy Arts Enterprise Ltd
  Expenses billed to Happy Arts Enterprise Ltd (75,369) (122,752)
  Expenses billed from Happy Arts EnterpriseLtd 129,597 138,832

  During the financial year, the Association charged expenses amounting to $75,369 (2009: $122,752) to Happy 
Arts Enterprise Ltd and was charged expenses amounting to $129,597 (2009: $138,832) by Happy Arts Enterprise 
Ltd. As at 31 March 2010, the Association has receivable of $26,048 (2009: $16,500) from and payable of 
$24,115 (2009: $30,131) to Happy Arts Enterprise Ltd.

 
   2010 2009
   $ $
  Buddha Tooth Relic Temple Singapore
  Expenses billed to Buddha Tooth Relic Temple Singapore (5,878) (28,095)
  Expenses billed from Buddha Tooth Relic Temple Singapore 15,997 24,241

  During the financial year, the Association charged expenses amounting to $5,878 (2009: $28,095) to Buddha 
Tooth Relic Temple Singapore and was charged expenses amounting to $15,997 (2009: $24,241) by Buddha 
Tooth Relic Temple Singapore. As at 31 March 2010, the Association has receivable of NIL (2009: $3,843) from 
and payable of $4,519 (2009: $6,768) to Buddha Tooth Relic Temple Singapore.

 (b) Key management personnel

   2010 2009
   $ $
  
  Salaries, honorariums and other employee benefits 496,260 511,778

  Number of key management in remuneration bands:

   2010 2009
  Above $100,000 1 1
  $50,000 to $100,000 5 4
  Below $50,000 1 4
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6 INVESTMENT SECURITIES - HELD TO MATURITY

 This amount represents investment in long-term bonds and notes (maturing 2010 and 2011 respectively).
 
   2010 2009
   $ $
  At cost
  Non-current:
   Notes with variable interest of 3.75% (Quoted) 200,000 200,000
  Government Bonds with fixed interest of 4.81% (Quoted) - 250,000
  Current:
  Government Bonds with fixed interest of 4.81% (Quoted) 250,000 -
   450,000 450,000

 Market values for bonds and notes are as follows:

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Non-current:
  Notes with variable interest of 3.75%  192,480 186,500
  Government Bonds with fixed interest of 4.81% (Quoted) - 258,840
  Current:
  Government Bonds with fixed interest of 4.81% (Quoted) 252,977 -
   445,457 445,340

 The bonds and notes were valued on 26 February 2010 (2009: 31 March 2009) and 18 March 2010 (2009: 26 March 
2009) respectively.

  If the class of held-to-maturity investments is tainted, the fair value as at 31 March 2010 would decrease by 
$4,543 (2009: decrease of $4,660) with a corresponding entry in general fund.

  There were no disposals or allowance for impairment for investment securities – held to maturity.
  Investment securities held to maturity are denominated in Singapore Dollars.

7 FIXED DEPOSITS

 Interest on non-current fixed deposit is earned at a variable rate of 4% per annum. The fixed deposit matures in 
2011.

  Fixed deposits are denominated in Singapore Dollars.

8 INVENTORIES

   2010 2009
   $ $
 Finished goods for re-sale, at cost 9,802 11,022
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9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Trade receivables
  Outside parties 31,317 54,203
  Fee in arrears 19,102 19,711
   50,419 73,914
  
  Other receivables
  Related parties (Note 4) 26,408 25,399
  Deposits 204,971 140,730
  Prepayments 29,992 26,054
  Government grant receivable 215,978 180,156
   477,349 372,339
   527,768 446,253

  Total trade and other receivables  497,776 420,199
  (excluding prepayment)
  Add: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10) 4,929,680 3,512,015
  Add: Fixed deposits (Note 7) 180,000 180,000
  Total loans and receivables 5,607,456 4,112,214
 
 Related party balances 

 Amounts due from related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on  demand. These 
amounts are to be settled in cash.

 Receivables that are past due but not impaired

 The Association has NIL (2009: NIL) trade receivables that are past due at the statement of financial position but 
not impaired.

 Receivables that are impaired

 The Association has NIL (2009: NIL) trade receivables that are impaired at the statement of financial position date.
  Trade and other receivables are denominated in Singapore Dollars.

10 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

   2010 2009
   $ $
 Cash in hand 10,300 10,600
 Cash at banks 3,817,180 2,299,703
 Fixed deposits 1,102,200 1,201,712
   4,929,680 3,512,015

   
 Interest on fixed deposits earned at rates ranging from 0.1% to 0.2% (2009: 1.0% to 1.8%) per annum.
  Short-term bank deposits at the statement of financial position date have maturity of 1 month from the end of 

the financial year.
  An amount of $266,700 (2009: $266,700) is pledged to a banker’s guarantee for security deposit purposes to 

Singapore Land Authority.
  For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash is comprised of the balances as shown above.
  Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Singapore Dollars.
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11 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Trade payables
  Outside parties 346,885 122,407

  Other payables
  Related parties (Note 4) 76,247 109,295
  Accrued operating expenses 601,528 287,992
  Refundable deposits 95,835 114,487
  Deferred income 86,560 175,105
   860,170 686,879
   1,207,055 809,286
 
  Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 1,207,055 809,286
  
 Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. These amounts 

are to be settled in cash.
  Trade and other payables are denominated in Singapore Dollars.

12 DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Cost
  At the beginning of the financial year 16,220,065 16,166,317
  Received during the financial year 512,074 53,748
  At end of the financial year 16,732,139 16,220,065

  Accumulated amortisation
  At the beginning of the financial year 2,607,048 2,185,543
  Amortisation 396,663 421,505
  At end of the financial year 3,003,711 2,607,048

  Net carrying amount
  Current 395,075 395,877
  Non-current 13,333,353 13,217,140
   13,728,428 13,613,017

  Deferred capital grants consist of:
  Grant from government 4,309,753 3,969,134
  Grant from non-government 9,418,675 9,643,883
   13,728,428 13,613,017

 These amounts represent government grant and donations received from individuals and private organisations for 
the purchase/construction of fixed assets. These amounts are taken to the Deferred Capital Grants. These grants 
and donations would be recognised as income over the period and in the proportion in which depreciation on 
these assets are charged.
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13 FUNDS 

       Unrestricted Funds        Restricted Funds  Total
 

General Investment
 Project 

Sinking
         Subtotal for 

Education Building
 Subtotal for 

 
Fund Fund

 Account 
Fund

    Designated  Funds    Unrestricted 
Trust Fund Fund

 Restricted
   Fund          Funds   Funds
     Student Metta Reserve for Client Reserve for Reserve for  Subtotal for
     Welfare School Client Welfare Equipment Medicine HIV Fund Designated
     Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund  Funds   
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
                     
 Balance at 31 March 2008 1,486,316 797,680 1,187,647 205,769 234,398 120,836 13,629 3,573 1,385 4,105 - 377,926 4,055,338 188,273 - 188,273 4,243,611
 Net (deficit)/surplus for the year (114,402) - - (27,151) (73,090) 1,136 (9,379) (221) (1,385) 729 - (82,210) (223,763) 162,787 - 162,787 (60,976)
 Transfer (to)/from funds (120,978) - - 120,978 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
                  
 Balance at 31 March 2009 1,250,936 797,680 1,187,647 299,596 161,308 121,972 4,250 3,352 - 4,834 - 295,716 3,831,575 351,060 - 351,060 4,182,635
 Net (deficit)/surplus for the year 1,035,797 - - (1,207) (19,462) 124 415 3,588 8,854 (548) 13,000 5,971 1,040,561 - 354,119 354,119 1,394,680
 Transfer (to)/from funds (246,131) 208,353 - 37,778 - - - - - - - - - - - - -

 BALANCE AT 31 MARCH 2010 2,040,602 1,006,033 1,187,647 336,167 141,846 122,096 4,665 6,940 8,854 4,286 13,000 301,687 4,872,136 351,060 354,119 705,179 5,577,315

 Investment Fund
 
 Based on a resolution passed at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 September 1997, 20% of annual surplus shall be transferred to the Investment Fund.

 Project Account Reserve
 
 The Project account reserve provides funds for the setting up of new centres and closing of existing ones.

 Sinking Fund

 The above fund has been set up for the maintenance of the building property of Metta Home for the Disabled.

 Designated Funds
 
 Designated funds comprise 7 separate designated funds as follows:

 (i) Student Welfare Fund
  This fund is primarily used to pay for recess meals as well as educational and recreational outings of Metta School students.
 (ii) Metta School Reserve
  This reserve arose from money returned by Metta School to be held in trust by Metta Welfare Association.
 (iii) Reserve for Client Ang Pow
  Donors contribute to this reserve maintained at the Metta Home for the Disabled which pays for various living expenses incurred to benefit its clients.
 (iv) Client Welfare Fund
  This fund is used to pay for various expenses to benefit clients at the Metta Day Activity Centre for the Intellectually Disabled and Metta Home Day Activity Centre.
 (v) Reserve for Equipment Fund
  This fund is used to purchase electrical appliances and exercise equipment for clients of the Metta Day Rehabilitation Centre for the Elderly.
 (vi) Reserve for Medicine Fund
  This fund helps subsidise cost of medication and other pharmaceutical expenses of clients at the Metta Hospice Care Centre.
 (vii) HIV Fund
  This fund was established in partnership with Action for Aids to assist patients afflicted with Aids by raising funds to purchase antiretroviral drugs for these patients.

 Education Trust Fund

 The Education Trust Fund was established in 2005 to benefit special needs children between 9 and 18 years old of Metta School.

 Building Fund

 The Building Fund was established during the financial year due to opening of the 2nd  Preschool centre at Punggol.
  The fund balances are not represented by any specific accounts, but are represented by all  assets and liabilities of the Association.
  Transfer (to)/from funds were approved by the Management Committee to meet the  remaining obligations of each designated fund.
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14 COMMITMENTS

 Capital Commitments 

 Capital commitments authorised but not provided for in the financial statements are as follows:

   2010 2009
   $ $
 Purchase of new computer system 40,555 -
 Renovation of Metta PreSchool and Metta Home 105,111 -
   145,666 -

 Operating Lease Commitments 

 The Association has entered into rental leases on the premises and photocopier machines. Operating lease 
payments recognised in the statement of financial activities for premises and photocopier machines during the 
financial year amounting to $951,809 (2009: $1,138,566) and $31,151 (2009: $30,232) respectively.

  Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as of 31 March are as 
follows:

 (a) Premises 

   2010 2009
   $ $
 Within one year 1,126,924 1,141,476
 Within 2 to 5 years - 1,141,476
   1,126,924 2,282,952

 (b) Photocopier machines
 
   2010 2009
   $ $
 Within one year 31,261 32,203
 Within 2 to 5 years 66,048 93,958
   97,309 126,161

15 INCOME TAX

 The Association is a registered Charity under the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and is exempted from income tax with 
effect from Year of Assessment 2008.

16 TAX EXEMPT RECEIPTS

 During the financial year, the Association issued tax-exempt receipts for donations collected amounting to 
$611,137 (2009: $503,797).

 
17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The main risks arising from the Association’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. 
The Association has no foreign currency risk and market price risk. The board policies for managing these risks 
are summarised below.
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Credit risk

 
Credit risk is limited to risk arising from the inability of receivables to make payments when they fall due. 

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents represents the 
Association’s maximum exposure to credit risk. No other financial asset carries a significant exposure to credit risk.
 The Association has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single counterparty.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are receivables with good payment 
record with the Association. Cash and cash equivalents that are neither past due nor impaired are placed 
with or entered into with reputable financial institutions with high credit ratings and no history of default.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
The Association has NIL (2009: Nil) financial assets that are either past due or impaired.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk in which the Association is unable to meet its short term obligations and this arises 
due to shortage of funds. 
 Liquidity risk for the Association is minimal as the Association is able to meet its funding requirements 
through its operations.
 At the statement of financial position date, the Association has non-derivative financial liabilities that are 
other payables amounting to $1,207,055 (2009: $809,286) which will mature within 1 year or less.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to interest income earned from fixed deposits. The Association’s interest income is 
affected by fluctuations in interest rate. There are no other policies in place to mitigate the effect of this risk.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
At the statement of financial position date, if the interest rate had been 100 basis points lower/higher with all 
other variables held constant, the Association’s surplus would have been $12,822 (2009: $13,817) higher/lower, 
arising mainly as a result of higher /lower interest income on fixed deposits.

 (b) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities reported in the statement of financial position 
approximates the carrying amount of those assets and  liabilities, as these are short term in nature except for 
investment securities - held to maturity investments. The fair value is disclosed in Note 6 to the financial  
statements.
 The fair value of investment securities – held to maturity is determined directly by reference to the quoted 
market prices at the statement of financial position date.
 During the financial year, no amount (2009: NIL) has been recognised in the  statement of financial 
activities in relation to the change in fair value of financial assets or financial liabilities estimated using a 
valuation technique.
 The Association has no fair value measurement recognised in the statement of financial position as at the 
date of statement of financial position.

18 MANAGEMENT OF RESERVES

 The Association regards its unrestricted funds excluding all building/ project, endowment and sinking funds as its 
reserves. 

  The Association’s reserve policy requires it to maintain sufficient reserve to ensure long term financial 
sustainability and continuity for the purpose of operating effective programmes.

  The maximum operating reserves shall be 5 years of annual operating expenditure, with annual operating 
expenditure being 5 times the annual expenditure over the last 3 years. 
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Statement By The Management Committee 

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet, income and expenditure 
statement, cash flow statement, statement of monthly pupil enrolment eligible 
for funding and statement of monthly pupil enrolment for international students 
together with the notes, as set out on pages 116 to 127 are drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of METTA SCHOOL as at 
31 March 2010 and of the results for the financial year ended on that date.

On behalf of the Management Committee

Yong Soo Cheng Lim Yew Si
Principal Honorary Treasurer

23 July 2010
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To The Management Committee Of Metta School
We have audited the accompanying balance sheet as at 31 March 2010, the income and expenditure, cash flow 
statement, statement of monthly pupil eligible for funding and statement of monthly pupil enrolment for international 
students for the financial year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of management of Metta 
School (The School). Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.
 We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.
 In our opinion,
(a) the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and 

so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the School as at 31 March 2010 and of the income and 
expenditure and cash flows of the School for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b)  the accounting and other records have been properly kept in accordance to the Rules and Regulations issued 
by the Ministry of Education and National Council of Social Services, as well as of any agreement signed with the 
Ministry of Education.

 During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that caused us to believe that during the financial 
year:
(i) the receipt, expenditure and investment of monies; and
(ii) the acquisition and disposal of assets by the School;
 have not been carried out in accordance with the Rules and Regulations issued by the Ministry of Education and the 
National Council of Social Services, as well as of any agreement signed with the Ministry of Education; nor that
(iii) the donations and other receipts of the School were not used for approved projects and the purposes intended.

Helmi Talib & Co
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
23 July 2010
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 March 2010 

   Note 2010 2009
ASSETS  $ $

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 7,543,258 7,682,934
Current assets
Inventories 6 157 218
Receivables 7 116,268 112,776
Cash and cash equivalents 8 8,540,277 5,840,561
Total current assets  8,656,702 5,953,555

Less:

Current liabilities
Deferrred capital grants 9 57,059 48,069
Payables 10 167,698 126,282
Total current liabilities  224,757 174,351
Net current assets  8,431,945 5,779,204

Non-current liabilities
Deferrred capital grants 9 57,173 18,553

NET ASSETS  15,918,030 13,443,585

Represented by:

FUNDS

Accumulated fund 11 5,621,013 4,305,569
Project reserves 12 8,840 28,844
School building fund 13 7,317,591 7,479,856
Staff training vote 14 172,997 137,215
Opportunity fund 15 10,971 5,453
Sinking fund 16 1,286,089 748,549
Student assistance fund 17 604,651 380,920
Curriculum Enhancement fund 18 1,159 -
Project fund 19 894,719 357,179

TOTAL FUNDS  15,918,030 13,443,585

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Income And Expenditure Statement
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

   Note 2010 2009
INCOME  $ $

Designated donation 20 14,223 8,063
Unsolicited donation  100 -
Government grant  4,872,298 4,152,352
Government Grant - MOE teachers  - 77,452
NCSS grant  1,203,160 1,179,205
Supplementary fund - NCSS  15,020 -
ToteBoard grant  256,224 134,154
Government grant - Jobs credit  229,379 57,484
Interest received from autosave account  259 1,135
Interest received from fixed deposits  34,717 37,143
Fee received - Local students  98,360 96,260
Fee received - Foreign students  23,616 30,390
Amortisation of deferred grant and   258,178 240,532
school building fund

TOTAL INCOME  7,005,534 6,014,170

Less: Expenses

EXPENDITURE

Salaries and allowances
- MOE teaching staff  - 77,262
- Other staff  3,296,856 3,073,617
Maintenance  134,937 77,692
Rental (excluding land rental) 21 3,883 1,284
Supplies and materials  142,840 130,240
Utilities  94,110 117,548
Communications  4,947 4,660
License fee  100 100
Insurance  3,050 2,996
Professional and other services  32,771 87,870
Security guards  12,341 25,224
Recruitment  785 758
Transport  2,975 4,229
Staff Welfare  49,684 41,253
School functions  57,115 55,509
Pupil Welfare  46,628 38,399
Pre-Vocational Program  63,914 171,116
Designated expenses  14,218 7,993
Depreciation  338,275 304,871
Write off of property, plant and equipment  18,403 5,653

TOTAL EXPENDITURE  4,317,832 4,228,274

Surplus for the financial year  2,687,702 1,785,896
Accumulated fund brought forward 11 4,305,569 3,412,262
Add: Adjustment to prior year under   17,879 -
funding FY 08/09 - NCSS grant
Add: Adjustment to prior year under  - 359
funding FY 07/08 - NCSS grant
Less: Adjustment to prior yer over  (46,287) -
funding FY 08/09 - Tote Board grant
Net surplus transferred to accumulated fund 11 6,964,863 5,198,517

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Cash Flows Statement
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

   Note 2010 2009
    $ $

Cash flows from operating activities      

Surplus for the financial year  2,687,702 1,785,896

Adjustments for:

Amortisation income of deferred grant and  (258,178) (240,532)
school building fund 
Depreciation expenses  338,275 304,871
Write off of property, plant and equipment   18,403 5,653
Adjustment to prior year (over)/under funding  (28,408) 359
Transfer 10% of surplus to student assistance fund  (268,770) (178,590)
Transfer 20% of surplus to sinking fund  (537,540) (357,179)
Transfer 20% of surplus to project fund  (537,540) (357,179)
Operating cash flows before working   1,413,944 963,299
capital changes

Increase in receivables  (3,492) (34,689) 
Decrease in inventories  61 426
Increase/(Decrease) in payables  41,416 (426,122)
Net cash flows from operating activities  1,451,929 502,914

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (217,002) (397,422)
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (217,002) (397,422)

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase in deferred capital grants  143,523 -
Increase in school building fund  - 261,193
Increase in staff training vote  35,782 13,379
Increase/(Decrease) in opportunity fund  5,518 (15,173)
Increase in sinking fund  537,540 357,179
Increase in student assistance fund  223,731 139,662
Increase in project fund  537,540 357,179
Increase in curriculum enhanced fund  1,159 -
Decrease in project reserves  (20,004) -
Net cash flows from financing activities  1,464,789 1,113,419

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  2,699,716 1,218,911
Cash and cash equivalents at the   5,840,561 4,621,650
beginning of the financial year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END  8 8,540,277 5,840,561
OF FINANCIAL YEAR

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Statement Of Monthly Pupil Eligible For Funding, FY 09/10
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

 
No. of Pupils by Disability Group*

 No. of Pupils under Total No. 
 

(a)
 Vocational Tracks of Pupils

  (b) (c=a+b)

 MID(J) + MID(S) + ASD MID(J) MID(S) ASD VOC VOC - ASD

1 April 2009 379  279 15 85 54 4 437

1 May 2009 382  282 15 85 54 4 440

1 June 2009 382  282 15 85 54 4 440

1 July 2009 385  285 15 85 54 4 443

1 August 2009 385  285 15 85 54 4 443

1 September 2009 386  286 15 85 54 4 444

1 October 2009 385  286 15 84 53 4 442

1 November 2009 384  285 15 84 53 4 441

1 December 2009 384  285 15 84 53 4 441

1 January 2010 358  254 20 84 56 8 422

1 February 2010 349  246 19 84 52 8 409

1 March 2010 349  246 19 84 52 8 409

* Separate columns to be provided for each disability. They are:
 Autism Spectrum Disorder - ASD students
 Mild Intellectual Disability (J) - Junior students
 Mild Intellectual Disability (S) - Senior students
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Statement Of Monthly Pupil Enrolment For International Students, FY 09/10
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

  No. of International Pupils* No. of International Pupils** Total No. of Pupils
  (a) (b) (c=a+b)

1 April 2009 - 1 1

1 May 2009 - 1 1

1 June 2009 - 1 1

1 July 2009 - 1 1

1 August 2009 - 1 1

1 September 2009 - 1 1

1 October 2009 - 1 1

1 November 2009 - 1 1

1 December 2009 - 1 1

1 January 2010 - 0 0

1 February 2010 - 0 0

1 March 2010 - 0 0

*  International students who are children of employment pass holders, skilled workers and diplomatic staff
** International students who are not children of employment pass holders, skilled workers and diplomatic staff

Note: International students are defined as those who are not of Singapore Citizen or Permanent Resident status.
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Notes To The Financial Statements  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1 SCHOOL INFORMATION
 
 The School was set up for the purpose of providing special education to mildly intellectually disabled and / or mildly 

autistic children between ages 7 to 18 who are functioning between IQ range of 50 and 70. Students who can 
benefit from Vocational Programmes can continue to school up to 21 years old.

  The financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with minutes of Committee members meeting 
on 23 July 2010.

  The School was registered with the Ministry of Education (MOE), Singapore on 16 November 2001 (Registration 
No: 1431).

  The School is one of the nine welfare centres provided by Metta Welfare Association which is registered charity.
  The School employed 85 (2009: 82) employees as of 31 March 2010.

2 MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
 
 For the financial year under review, the members of the management committee were as follows:
  Ven Shi Fa Zhao - Chairman
  Ven Shi Pu En - School Supervisor
  Yong Soo Cheng  - Secretary
  Lim Yew Si  - Treasurer
  Ee Tiang Hwee  - Member
  Lau Swee Eng  - Member
  Tan Ming Yong  - Member
  Tan Yen Kee  - Member
  Lestin Ong Poh Wei  - MOE Representative

3         SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3.1 Basis of preparation 

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with and comply with Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (FRS). The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the 
accounting policies below.

  The preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions and judgements that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the financial year. The key estimates and judgements made that have a material 
effect are those relating to depreciation.

  The financial statements are expressed in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $).
  The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the School and are consistent with those used in 

the previous financial year and the Rules and Regulations issued by MOE and National Council of Social Services 
(NCSS), as well as of any agreement signed with the MOE.

3.2 Changes in accounting policies

 On 1 April 2009, the School adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations to FRS (INT FRS) that are 
mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the School’s accounting policies have been made as 
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions on the respective FRS and INT FRS.

  The following are the new or revised FRS and INT FRS that are relevant to the School:
 • FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised presentation
  The revised standard requires an entity to present, in a statement of changes in funds, all owner changes 

in funds. All non-owner changes in funds (i.e. comprehensive income) are required to be presented in one 
statement of comprehensive income or in two statements (a separate income statement and a statement 
of comprehensive income). Components of comprehensive income are not permitted to be presented in 
the statement of changes in funds. In addition, a statement of financial position is required at the beginning 
of the earliest comparative period following a change in accounting policy, the correction of an error or 
the reclassification of items in the financial statements. FRS 1 (revised 2008) does not have any impact of the 
School’s financial position or results.
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 • Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
  The amendment requires enhanced disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. In particular, 

the amendment requires the disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a fair value measurement 
hierarchy. The adoption of the amendment results in additional disclosures but does not have an impact on the 
accounting policies and measurement bases adopted by the School.

3.3 New or revised accounting standards and interpretations

 Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are 
mandatory for the School’s accounting policies beginning 1 April 2010 or later periods and which the School has 
not early adopted.

  The Management expects that the adoption of the new or revised accounting standards and interpretations 
will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application.

 
3.4 Functional currency

 The management has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the School 
operates i.e. functional currency, to be SGD. Income and major costs of providing services including major 
operating expenses are primarily influenced by fluctuations in SGD.

3.5 Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment. The cost of 
property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any directly attributable costs 
of bringing the property, plant and equipment to working condition for its intended use. Subsequent expenditure 
relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to the carrying amount of 
the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the School 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance expenses is recognised in 
the income and expenditure statement when incurred.

  Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:
  Furniture & fittings  5 years
  Office equipment  5 years
  Computer  3 years
  Physio equipment  5 years
  Art & Music  5 years
  School building  50 years
  Other equipment  3 years
  Renovation  2 years
  The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
  The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year end to ensure 

that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected 
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

  An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in the income and 
expenditure statement in the year the asset is derecognised.

3.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The carrying amounts of the School’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. All 
impairment losses are recognised in the income and expenditure statement whenever the carrying amount of an 
asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

  An impairment loss is only revised to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss has been 
recognised. All reversals of impairment are recognised in the income and expenditure statement.
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3.7 Financial assets

 Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the School becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

  When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus transaction costs.
  All regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e. the 

date that the School commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention 
in the marketplace concerned.

  Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market 
are classified as loans and receivables. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less impairment losses. Gains and losses are recognised in the income and expenditure statement when 
the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

  The School classifies the following financial assets as loans and receivables:
  - cash and cash equivalents
  - receivables

3.8 Cash and cash equivalents

 
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances. Cash carried in the balance sheet is classified and 

accounted for as loans and receivables under FRS 39.

3.9 Impairment of financial assets 

 The School assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired.

  If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount 
of the loss is recognised in the income and expenditure statement.

  When the financial asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial asset is reduced 
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance amount, the amounts charged to the allowance account 
are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset.

  To determine whether there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial asset has been 
incurred, the School considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

  If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income and expenditure statement, 
to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

 
3.10 Derecognition of financial assets

 A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.
  On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the 

sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is 
recognised in the income and expenditure statement.

 
3.11  Inventories 

 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories consist of exercise books. Cost is 
determined using the first-in, first-out-method. The cost of the exercise books comprises purchase costs.

  Net realisable value is the selling price which is equivalent to the purchase costs.
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3.12 Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities include payables. Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, the School 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are initially recognised 
at fair value of consideration received less attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

  Gains and losses are recognised in the income and expenditure statement when the liabilities are 
derecognised and through the amortisation process. The liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.

3.13 Provisions

 
 Provisions are recognised when the School has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event 

where it is probable that it will result in an outflow of economic benefits to settle the obligation and the amount of 
the obligation can be estimated reliably.

  Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it 
is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted 
using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

3.14 Employee benefits

 (a)	 Defined	contribution	plan
  As required by law, the School makes contributions to the state pension schemes, the Central Provident Fund 

(CPF). CPF contributions are recognised as compensation expenses in the same period as the employment 
that gives rise to the contribution.

 (b) Employee leave entitlement
  Employee entitlements to annual leave other than teaching staff are recognised when they accrued to 

employees. Unused annual leave are not allowed to be carried forward to the following calendar year.

3.15 Revenue recognition

 Revenue consists of school fees, designated donations, grants and interest income.

 (a) School fees
  Revenue received from school fees is recognised on an accrual basis.
 (b) Designated donation
  Donation received from companies and other organisation is recognised when they are receivable.

3.16 Grants

 A grant is recognised at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attaching to it will be 
complied with and that the grant will be received. Grants and government subvention receipts in recognition 
of specific expenses are recognised as income to match them with the related costs that they are intended to 
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the 
balance sheet and is amortised to the income and expenditure statement over the expected useful life of the 
relevant assets by annual amount installments.

4 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Metta Welfare Association
  Expenses billed to Metta Welfare Association (653) (19,075)
  Expenses billed from Metta Welfare Association 5,757 14,922
   5,104 (4,153)
  
 During the financial year, the School charged expenses of a value of $653 (2009: $19,075) and was charged 

expenses amounting to $5,757 (2009: $14,922) to and from its related party, Metta Welfare Association. As at 31 
March 2010, the School has receivable of NIL (2009: $16,095) from the related party.
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6 INVENTORIES
   2010 2009
   $ $
  Exercise books, at cost 157 218
  
 Inventories comprise of the exercise books carried at lower of cost and net realisable value.

7 RECEIVABLES
   2010 2009
   $ $
  Grant receivables 48,756 20,988
  Outside parties 50,629 58,252
  Related party (Note 4) - 16,095
  Prepayment 357 357
  Accrued interest on fixed deposits 16,526 17,084
   116,268 112,776

  Receivables (exclude prepayments) 115,911 112,419
  Add: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 8) 8,540,277 5,840,561
  Total loans and receivables 8,656,188 5,952,980

 Receivables that are past due but not impaired

 As at the balance sheet date, the School has NIL (2009: NIL) receivables that are past due but not impaired.

 Receivables that are impaired

 As at the balance sheet date, the School has NIL (2009: NIL) receivables that are impaired.

 Related party balance

 Amount due from related party is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. This amount is to 
besettled in cash.

  Receivables are denominated in Singapore Dollars.

8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
   2010 2009
   $ $
 Cash in hand 1,000 1,000
 Cash at bank 1,922,173 1,257,732
 Fixed deposits 6,617,104 4,581,829
   8,540,277 5,840,561
 
 For the purpose of cash flow statement, cash is comprised of the balances as shown above.
  Cash at bank earns interest at a weighted-average rate of 0.014% per annum (2009: 0.090%).
  Fixed deposit earns interest rates ranging from 0.250% – 1.550% (2009: 1.200% – 1.550%) per annum.
  Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Singapore Dollars.
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9         DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Cost
  At the beginning of the financial year 477,308 477,308
  Received during the financial year 143,523 -
  At the end of financial year 620,831 477,308

  Accumulated amortisation
  At the beginning of the financial year 410,686 332,419
  Charge for the year 95,913 78,267
  At the end of financial year 506,599 410,686

  Net carrying amount
  Current 57,059 48,069
  Non-current 57,173 18,553
   114,232 66,622

  Deferred capital grants consist of:
  Grant from government 18,542 66,614
  Grant from non-government 95,690 8
   114,232 66,622

 These amounts represent government grant and donations received from individuals and private organisations for 
the purchase/construction of property, plant and equipment. These amounts are taken to the Deferred Capital 
Grants. The depreciation of property, plant and equipment would be charged to the related grants yearly. 

 
10 PAYABLES

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Accrued operating expenses 134,920 111,723
  Fees received in advances 32,778 14,559
   167,698 126,282

  Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 167,698 126,282

 Payables are denominated in Singapore Dollars.
             
11 ACCUMULATED FUNDS

   2010 2009
   $ $
  At the beginning of the financial year 4,305,569 3,412,262
  Surplus for current financial year 2,687,702 1,785,896
  Add: Adjustment to prior year Underfunding – NCSS 17,879 359
  Less: Adjustment to prior year Overfunding – Tote Board (46,287) -
   6,964,863 5,198,517
  Transfer to sinking fund (Note 16) (537,540) (357,179)
  Transfer to student assistance fund (Note 17) (268,770) (178,590)
  Transfer to project fund (Note 19) (537,540) (357,179)
   5,621,013 4,305,569 
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12 PROJECT RESERVES

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Programme development fund

  At the beginning of financial year 28,844 28,844
  
  Less: Expenses for the financial year (20,004) -
  At the end of the financial year 8,840 28,844

 These reserves are contributions set aside for school operations expenses and upgrading work.
 
13 SCHOOL BUILDING FUND

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Cost
  At the beginning of the financial year 8,113,244 7,852,051
  Received during the financial year - 261,193
  At the end of financial year 8,113,244 8,113,244
  
  Accumulated amortisation
  At the beginning of the financial year 633,388 471,123
  Charge for the year 162,265 162,265
  At the end of financial year 795,653 633,388
  
  Net carrying amount 7,317,591 7,479,856
  School building fund consists of:
  Grant from government 4,658,235 4,761,403
  Grant from non-government 2,659,356 2,718,453
   7,317,591 7,479,856

 The school building fund was set up for the purpose of construction of the school building. 90% of the cost of 
construction of the school building was funded by Ministry of Education and the other 10% was funded by the 
related party, Metta Welfare Associaton. The construction of the school building was completed in year 2005.

  During the prior financial year, the School set up a training kitchen. 95% of the cost was funded by Ministry of 
Education and the other 5% by the School.

14  STAFF TRAINING VOTE

   2010 2009
   $ $
  At the beginning of the financial year 137,215 123,836
  Add: Grant received 84,425 78,375
   221,640 202,211
  Less: Expenses for the financial year (48,643) (64,996)
  At the end of the financial year 172,997 137,215

 From the financial year ended 31 March 2006, the above Staff Training Vote will be funded solely by Ministry of 
Education. A sum of $1,100 is allocated to each staff to receive appropriate training and improve service quality.
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15  OPPORTUNITY FUND

   2010 2009
   $ $
  At the beginning of the financial year 5,453 20,626
  Add: Grant received 14,526 5,453
   19,979 26,079
  Less: Expenses for the financial year (9,008) (20,626)
  At the end of the financial year 10,971 5,453

 The Opportunity Fund is an initiative by Ministry of Education, starting from the financial year ended 31 March 2007, 
where funds are allocated to students in need.

16 SINKING FUND

   2010 2009
   $ $
  At the beginning of the financial year 748,549 391,370
  Transfer from accumulated fund (Note 11) 537,540 357,179
  At the end of the financial year 1,286,089 748,549

 The sinking fund is set up for major repairs and maintenance of the School Building.

17 STUDENT ASSISTANCE FUND

   2010 2009
   $ $
  At the beginning of the financial year 380,920 241,258
  Transfer from accumulated funds (Note 11) 268,770 178,590
   649,690 419,848
  Less: Expenses (45,039) (38,928)
  At the end of the financial year 604,651 380,920

 The student assistance fund is set up to provide financial assistance for needy pupils.
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18 CURRICULUM ENHANCEMENT FUND

   2010 2009
   $ $
  At the beginning of the financial year - -
  Add: Grant received 80,000 -
   80,000
  Less: Expenses for the financial year (78,841) -
  At the end of the financial year 1,159 -

 This fund was set up to promote and sustain school-based initiatives in enhancing the quality of the school 
curriculum and co-curriculum.

19 PROJECT FUND

   2010 2009
   $ $
  At the beginning of the financial year 357,179 -
  Transfer from accumulated funds (Note 11) 537,540 357,179
  At the end of the financial year 894,719 357,179

 This fund was approved by School Management Committee to set aside for school building extension, school 
improvement and upgrading works, also for projects / programmes that will meet the needs of the pupils.

20 DESIGNATED DONATION

 Donations-in-kind received during the financial year are as follows:

   2010 2009
   $ $
  School uniforms & fees 5,000 5,285
  Arts Programme / Performing Arts 5,523 388
  Sports Programme 3,500 -
  Teachers’ Day Celebration 200 2,390
   14,223 8,063

21  RENTAL (EXCLUDING LAND RENTAL)

 Rental expenses for photocopier machines for the School was $3,883 and $1,284 for the years ended 31 March 
2010 and 2009 respectively.

  The rental expenses for the land amounting to $399,024 and $395,899 for the years ended 31 March 2010 
and 2009 were fully funded by MOE. The School has given consent for the full funding to be remitted from MOE 
to Metta Welfare Association. Hence the School does not recognise both rental expenses and rental grants 
in its income and expenditure statement. The rental expenses for the land were recognised in Metta Welfare 
Association’s financial statements.
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22 TOTEBOARD’S FUNDING ON STUDENTS DOING VOCATIONAL/ MAINSTREAM SECONDARY CURRICULUM

 The ToteBoard’s Funding on students doing Vocational/ Mainstream Secondary Curriculum for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2010 are as follow:

   2010 2009
   $ $
  Income:

  Donations 15 -
  School fees 13,200 8,860
  Total Income 13,215 8,860

  Expenditure:

  Salaries and allowances 112,336 72,080
  Maintenance 4,949 1,777
  Rental (excluding land rental) 142 29
  Supplies and materials 9,058 2,979
  Utilities 3,451 2,689
  Communications 181 107
  License fee 4 2
  Insurance 112 69
  Professional and other services 1,202 2,010
  Security guards 453 577
  Recruitment 29 17
  Transport 120 97
  Staff Welfare 1,655 944
  School functions 1,804 1,270
  Pupil Welfare 505 879
  PreVocational Program 15,979 3,915
  Designated expenses 521 183
  Depreciation 12,406 6,974
  Write off of plant and equipment 675 129
  Total Expenditure 165,582 96,727

  Net (Deficit) of Income over Expenditure (152,367) (87,867)

  ToteBoard Grant received during the year 192,966 131,471
  Grant retained by ToteBoard: 2% 5,124 2,683
  Grant for Quarter 4 not received 58,134 -
  Tote Board Grant 256,224 134,154

  Final Surplus/(Deficit) less ToteBoard’s Grant 40,599 46,287
  Accumulated funds at the beginning of financial year 46,287 -
  Adjustment by Tote Board (46,287) -
 
  Accumulated funds at the end of financial year 40,599 46,287

23 INCOME TAX

 The School is one of the nine welfare centers provided by Metta Welfare Association which is registered charity 
under the Charities Act 1982 and is exempted from income tax.
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The main risks arising from the School’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. 
The School has no foreign currency risk and market price risk. The board policies for managing these risks are 
summarised below.

Credit risk

 
Credit risk is limited to risk arising from the inability of receivables to make payments when they fall due. 

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of receivables and cash and cash equivalents represents the School’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk. No other financial asset carries a significant exposure to credit risk.
 The School has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single counterparty.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are receivables with good payment record with the 
School. Cash and cash equivalents that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with 
reputable financial institutions with high credit ratings and no history of default.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
The School has no (2009: NIL) financial assets that are either past due or impaired.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk in which the School is unable to meet its short term obligations and this arises due 
to shortage of funds.
 Liquidity risk for the School is minimal as the School is able to meet its funding requirements through its 
operations.
 At the balance sheet date, the School has non-derivative financial liabilities that are payables amounting 
to $167,698 (2009: $126,282) which will mature within 1 year or less.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to interest bearing bank account and fixed deposits. The Company interest income is 
affected by fluctuations in interest rate.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
At the balance sheet date, if the interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables 
held constant the School net surplus would have been $85,393 (2009: $58,396) higher/lower, arising mainly as a 
result of a higher/lower interest income on bank deposit.

 (b) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities reported in the balance sheet approximates the 
carrying amount of those assets and liabilities, as these are short term in nature.
 During the financial year, no amount (2009: NIL) has been recognised in the income and expenditure 
statement in relation to the change in fair value of financial assets or financial liabilities estimated using a 
valuation technique.

25 MANAGEMENT OF RESERVES

 The School regards its accumulated funds excluding all project reserves, school building fund, staff training note, 
opportunity fund, sinking fund, student assistance fund, curriculum enhancement fund and project fund as its 
resources.

  The School’s reserve policy requires it to maintain sufficient reserve to ensure long term financial sustainability 
and continuity for the purpose of operating effective programmes.
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